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The directors of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Bank”) submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Bank is the provision of banking and related financial services. The principal activity of the main operating 
subsidiary is shown in Note 21 of the consolidated financial statements.

Results and appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 6.

During the year, interim dividends totalling HK$5,500 million (2022: HK$1,250 million) were paid to the holder of ordinary shares during 
2023. Distribution of HK$40 million was paid to the holder of Perpetual Capital Securities during 2023 (2022: Nil). No preferential 
dividend (2022: HK$45million) was paid to the holder of Class A preference shares that was redeemed and cancelled in January 2022. 
Details are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The directors do not recommend final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. No 
debenture was issued by the Bank during the year.

Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$1,209,390 (2022: HK$1,002,052).

Directors

The directors, including executive director (“ED”), non-executive directors (“NED”) and independent non-executive directors (“INED”) 
of the Bank during the year and up to the date of this report are:

SEAH Lim Huat, Peter (NED) – Chairman
Piyush GUPTA (NED) – Vice Chairman
J. E. Sebastian PAREDES MUIRRAGUI (ED) – Chief Executive
Dominic Chiu Fai HO (INED)
Nancy Sau Ling TSE (INED)
LIU Chee Ming (INED)
HO Hing Yuen, David (INED) (resigned on 26 April 2023)

In accordance with the articles of association of the Bank, Ms. Nancy Sau Ling TSE will retire from office at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

REPORT OF  
THE DIRECTORS
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Directors (continued)

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. J. E. Sebastian PAREDES MUIRRAGUI is also a director of the Bank’s subsidiaries. 
Other directors of the Bank’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report include Ms. WU Shu-yen Carol, Mr. CHAN 
Chi Yung, Mr. Alfian Michael SHARIFUDDIN and Mr. LAM Wing Ted Wallace. Mr. CHEUNG Kin Sang ceased to be a director of the 
Bank’s subsidiaries on 1 January 2023.

Directors’ material interests in significant transactions, arrangements and contracts

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Bank’s business, to which the Bank or any of its subsidiaries 
or its holding companies or any subsidiaries of its holding companies was a party and in which a director of the Bank or the director’s 
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ interest in shares

As at the end of the year or at any time during the year, the DBSH Share Plan (the “Share Plan”) was the only arrangement that enabled 
a director of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares of DBS Group Holdings Ltd. (“DBSH”), or to be awarded 
shares of DBSH (or their equivalent cash value).

The Share Plan is granted to DBSH Group executives as determined by the Compensation and Management Development Committee 
(“CMDC”) of DBSH appointed to administer the Share Plan from time to time. Participants are awarded shares of DBSH, their equivalent 
cash value or a combination of both.

Awards consist of the main award and the retention award (being 15%-20% of the main award). The main award granted prior to 
February 2023 vests from 2 to 4 years after grant, i.e. 33% will vest 2 years after grant; another 33% will vest on the third year and 
the remaining 34% plus the retention award will vest 4 years after grant. The main award granted from February 2023 vests from 1 
to 4 years after grant, i.e. 25% will vest each year. The retention award will vest 4 years after grant. The fair value of the shares awarded 
is computed based on the market price of the ordinary shares at the time of the award.

During the year, the following directors were eligible to receive awards under the Share Plan as set out below:

1)	 A total of 17,185 share awards were granted to Mr. SEAH Lim Huat, Peter and 17,185 share awards were vested in him;

2)	 A total of 220,554 share awards were granted to Mr. Piyush GUPTA and 314,139 share awards were vested in him;

3)	 A total of 71,968 share awards were granted to Mr. J. E. Sebastian PAREDES MUIRRAGUI and 93,731 share awards were vested in 
him.

Apart from the above, at no time during the year was the Bank or any of its subsidiaries or its holding companies or any subsidiaries 
of its holding companies a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in or debentures of the Bank or any other body corporates.

Permitted indemnity provisions

The articles of association of the Bank provide that every director of the Bank shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of 
the Bank against all liabilities incurred by him/her as a director for the benefit of the Bank or in defending any proceedings in which 
judgement is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted or in connection with relief granted to him/her by the court.

All directors of the Bank and its associated companies are covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy taken out by 
DBSH.
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Management contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Bank was 
entered into or existed during the year.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

SEAH Lim Huat, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 1 February 2024
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DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF DBS BANK (HONG KONG) LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited 

The consolidated financial statements of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set 
out on pages 6 to 53, comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

•	 the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory 
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s report 
is the information included in the report of the directors and corporate governance report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely 
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 1 February 2024
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DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December
In HK$ millions Note 2023 2022
 

Interest income 19,825 10,958

Interest expense (9,089) (2,686)
 

Net interest income 4 10,736 8,272

Net fee and commission income 5 3,316 3,084

Net trading income 6 1,088 1,215

Net income/(loss) from investment securities 7 58 (45)

Other income 8 70 92
 

Total income 15,268 12,618

Total expenses 9 (6,093) (5,570)
 

Profit before allowances for credit and other losses 9,175 7,048

Allowances for credit and other losses 10 (564) (390)
 

Profit before income tax 8,611 6,658

Income tax expense 12 (1,330) (1,104)
 

Profit attributable to shareholders 7,281 5,554
 

The notes on pages 6 to 53 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December
In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Profit attributable to shareholders 7,281 5,554
 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Debt instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income and others

– Net valuation taken to equity (Note 28(b)) 732 (1,569)

– Transferred to income statement (Note 28(b)) (9) 62

– Deferred income tax (debited)/credited to equity (Note 28(b)) (120) 234

Cash flow hedge

– Net valuation taken to equity (Note 28(b)) 290 (2,981)

– Transferred to income statement (Note 28(b)) 780 (147)

– Deferred income tax (debited)/credited to equity (Note 28(b)) (176) 516

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement:
Equity instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income

– Net valuation taken to equity (Note 28(b)) 47 27
 

Other comprehensive income attributable to shareholders, net of tax 1,544 (3,858)
 

Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders 8,825 1,696
 

The notes on pages 6 to 53 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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As at 31 December
In HK$ millions Note 2023 2022
 

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 15 1,415 4,873

Government securities and treasury bills 16 63,577 60,083

Due from banks 17 102,247 98,889

Derivatives 32 3,010 3,047

Bank and corporate securities 18 22,169 23,535

Loans and advances to customers 19 262,591 276,196

Other assets 20 8,782 5,390

Properties and other fixed assets 22 3,830 3,862
 

Total assets 467,621 475,875
 

Liabilities
Due to banks 8,560 10,793

Deposits and balances from customers 23 390,599 394,360

Derivatives 32 3,558 5,290

Certificates of deposit issued 24 – 3,105

Other liabilities 25 15,833 16,545

Subordinated liability 27 2,343 2,339
 

Total liabilities 420,893 432,432
 

Equity 
Share capital 28(a) 8,995 8,995

Reserves 28(b) 36,333 33,048

Other equity instruments 29 1,400 1,400
 

Total equity 46,728 43,443
 

Total liabilities and equity 467,621 475,875
 

The notes on pages 6 to 53 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

SEAH Lim Huat, Peter	 J.E. Sebastian PAREDES MUIRRAGUI
Chairman	 Director

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED  
Statement of Financial Position
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In HK$ millions
Share

capital
Other equity
 instruments

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

 

Balance as at 1 January 2022 8,995 – 2,299 31,748 43,042

Redemption of preference shares (Note 28(a)(ii)) (1,400) – – – (1,400)

Transfer (Note 28(a)(ii)) 1,400 – – (1,400) –

Issue of perpetual capital securities (Note 29) – 1,400 – – 1,400

Total comprehensive income – – (3,858) 5,554 1,696

Dividends (Note 13) – – – (1,295) (1,295)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 8,995 1,400 (1,559) 34,607 43,443
  

Balance as at 1 January 2023 8,995 1,400 (1,559) 34,607 43,443

Total comprehensive income – – 1,544 7,281 8,825

Dividends (Note 13) – – – (5,540) (5,540)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 8,995 1,400 (15) 36,348 46,728
 

The notes on pages 6 to 53 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Year ended 31 December
In HK$ millions Note 2023 2022
 

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 8,611 6,658

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Allowances for credit and other losses 564 390
Write-off of properties and other fixed assets 1 9
Depreciation expenses 532 536
Advances and other assets written off (873) (444)
Recoveries of advances and other assets written off 57 55
Interest expense for subordinated liability 164 137
Interest expense on lease liabilities 31(a) 19 22
 

Profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 9,075 7,363
 

Increase/(decrease) in:
Due to banks (2,233) 2,866
Deposits and balances from customers (3,761) 20,427
Other liabilities and derivatives (1,134) 558
Certificates of deposit issued (3,105) 3,105
Decrease/(increase) in:
Due from banks (8,858) 33,338
Government securities and treasury bills (3,200) (19,674)
Loans and advances to customers 13,838 (37,227)
Bank and corporate securities 1,217 (12,415)
Other assets and derivatives (3,675) (2,070)
 

Net cash used in operating activities before income tax (1,836) (3,729)

Hong Kong profits tax paid (1,494) (1,487)

Overseas tax paid (2) –
 

Net cash used in operating activities (3,332) (5,216)
 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (272) (247)
 

Net cash used in investing activities (272) (247)
 

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal element of lease payment (262) (265)
Interest element of lease payment (19) (22)
Redemption of preference shares – (1,400)
Issue of perpetual capital securities – 1,400
Redemption of subordinated liability – (4,198)
Issue of subordinated liability – 2,332
Dividends paid (5,540) (1,295)
Interest paid for subordinated liability (162) (134)
 

Net cash used in financing activities (5,983) (3,582)
 

Exchange differences 4 (7)
 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (9,583) (9,052)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 97,450 106,502
 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 31(b) 87,867 97,450
 

The notes on pages 6 to 53 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED  
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2023

1	 GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (the 
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are the 
provision of banking and related financial services. The Bank is a 
limited company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. The 
address of its registered office is 11th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s 
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The immediate holding company is DBS Diamond Holdings Ltd., 
which was incorporated in Bermuda. The ultimate holding 
company is DBS Group Holdings Ltd (“DBSH” or “DBS Group”) 
which is listed, incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of 
Singapore. The address of its registered office is 12 Marina 
Boulevard, Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 3, Singapore 
018982.

The consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 1 February 2024.

For regulatory reporting purposes, the Bank computes key 
regulatory ratios on a combined basis including the Bank and its 
overseas branch that is different from the basis of consolidation 
for accounting purposes. The basis is set out in the unaudited 
Regulatory Disclosure Statements. The disclosures of regulatory 
capital, liquidity and other disclosures are available in the section 
of Regulatory Disclosures on our website https://www.dbs.com/
hongkong/en/financials/financial-results.page.

2	 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies 
applied by the Group and, except where noted, are consistent 
with those applied in the previous financial year.

(a)	 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance Cap 622.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 
dollars and rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires 
management to exercise judgement, use estimates and make 
assumptions in the application of policies and in reporting the 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements, and areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement and complexity, are 
disclosed in Note 3.

(b)	 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
The HKICPA has issued a number of new / revised standards that 
are effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2023. The Group has made an assessment of these new / revised 
standards and considered that they either have no material impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements or are not 
relevant to the Group’s operations.

New HKFRS and Interpretations effective for future periods

The amendments and interpretations effective for future periods 
do not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.

General Accounting Policies

(c)	 Group accounting

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which 
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date control is transferred to the Group to the date control ceases.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Investment cost at Bank level
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses in the Bank’s statement of financial position. 
On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and joint venture, the 
difference between the net proceeds and the carrying amounts 
of the investments is taken to the income statement.

(d)	 Foreign currency treatment

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items in the consolidated financial statements are measured 
using the functional currency of each entity in the Group, being 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates. The Group’s consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is the 
functional currency of the Bank.

(ii)	 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured using exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate as at the end of the 
reporting period. Foreign exchange differences arising from 
this translation are recognised in the income statement as 
trading income.

https://www.dbs.com/hongkong/en/financials/financial-results.page
https://www.dbs.com/hongkong/en/financials/financial-results.page
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Net interest income also includes interest income and interest 
expense of derivative instruments where:

•	 The derivative instruments have been used for hedge 
accounting purposes; or

•	 An accounting mismatch would otherwise arise from 
certain derivatives that have been used for economic 
hedges which are not subject to hedge accounting.

(ii)	 Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse 
range of products and services provided to its customers.

Fee and commission income are recognised when the Group 
has satisfied its performance obligation in providing the 
promised products and services to the customer, and are 
recognised based on contractual rates agreed with customers, 
net of expected waivers based on historical experience, and 
net of expenses directly related to it. The Group generally 
satisfies its performance obligation and recognises the fee and 
commission income on the following basis:

•	 Transaction-based fee and commission income is recognised 
on the completion of the transaction. Such fees include 
underwriting fees, brokerage fees, bancassurance sales 
commission and variable service fees, and fees related to 
the completion of corporate finance transactions.

•	 For a service that is provided over a period of time, fee and 
commission income is generally recognised on equal 
proportion basis over the period during which the related 
service is provided or credit risk is undertaken. This basis 
of recognition most appropriately reflects the nature and 
pattern of provision of these services to the customers over 
time. Fees for these services can be billed to customers in 
advance or periodically over time. Such fees include the 
income from issuance of financial guarantees and 
bancassurance fixed service fees.

The Group does not provide any significant credit terms to 
customers for the above products and services.

Directly related expenses typically include brokerage fees paid, 
card-related expenses and sales commissions, but do not 
include expenses for services delivered over a period (such as 
service contracts) and other expenses that are not specifically 
related to fee and commission income transactions.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair values are determined, which is 
generally the end of the reporting period.

Unrealised foreign exchange differences arising from non-
monetary financial assets and liabilities classified as fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) are recognised in the income 
statement as trading income. Non-monetary financial assets 
that are classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVOCI”) relates mainly to FVOCI equities. Refer to 
section 2(f) for the accounting treatment.

(iii)	Subsidiaries and branches

The results and financial positions of subsidiaries and branches 
whose functional currency is not Hong Kong dollars (“foreign 
operations”) are translated into Hong Kong dollars in the 
following manner:

•	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates 
as at the end of the reporting period;

•	 Income and expenses in the income statement are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at each month-end, 
approximating the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions; and

•	 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under capital 
reserves in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed 
of, or when it is liquidated, such currency translation 
differences are recognised in the income statement as part 
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Income Statement

(e)	 Income recognition

(i)	 Interest income and interest expense

Interest is accrued on all interest-bearing financial assets and 
financial liabilities, regardless of their classification and 
measurement, except for limited transactions measured at FVPL 
where the economics is better reflected in trading income.

Interest income and interest expense are recognised on a time-
proportionate basis using the effective interest method. The 
calculation includes significant fees and transaction costs that 
are integral to the effective interest rate, as well as premiums 
or discounts.
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•	 Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI when they are in a 
“hold to collect & sell” (“HTC&S”) business model and have 
cash flows that are SPPI in nature. Both the collection of 
contractual cash flows and sales are integral to achieving the 
objective of the HTC&S business model.

Unrealised gains or losses on FVOCI debt instruments are 
recorded in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
FVOCI reserves. When they are sold, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments in FVOCI are reclassified to the income statement 
as “Net income from investment securities”.

•	 Debt instruments are measured at FVPL when:

(i)	 the assets are not SPPI in nature;
(ii)	 the assets are not part of a “HTC” or “HTC&S” business 

model; or
(iii)	the assets are designated at FVPL to eliminate or 

significantly reduce the measurement or recognition 
inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities on different bases.

Realised and unrealised gains or losses on FVPL financial assets, 
except interest income, are taken to “Net trading income” in 
the income statement in the period they arise.

•	 Subsequent changes in fair value of non-trading equity 
instruments can be taken through profit or loss or 
comprehensive income, as elected. The Group generally elects 
its non-trading equity instruments to be classified as FVOCI. 
Other than dividend income, gains and losses on FVOCI equity 
instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in FVOCI reserves, and not reclassified to profit 
or loss upon derecognition.

•	 Derivatives (including derivatives embedded in financial 
liabilities but separated for accounting purposes) are classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging 
instruments. Derivatives are classified as assets when the fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives other than those 
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow or net 
investment hedges are included in “Net trading income”.

Reclassification of financial assets
Reclassification of financial assets are prohibited unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets. In 
practice, this is expected to be infrequent.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial assets is the price that would be received 
if the asset is sold in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. Fair value is generally 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments. Where applicable, a valuation reserve or 
pricing adjustment is applied to arrive at the fair value. Significant 
judgement is required in estimating fair value. Refer to Note 30 
for further details.

(iii)	Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established. This is generally the ex-dividend date 
for listed equity securities, and usually the date when 
shareholders approve the dividend for unlisted equity securities. 
Dividend income arising from financial assets classified as FVPL 
is recognised in “Net trading income”, while those arising from 
FVOCI financial assets is recognised in “Net income from 
investment securities”.

(iv)	Rental income

Rental income from operating leases on properties is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(v)	 Allowances for credit losses

Please refer to Note 2(h) for the accounting policy on 
impairment of financial assets.

Statement of financial position

(f)	 Financial assets

Initial recognition
Purchases and sales of all financial assets are recognised on the 
date that the Group enters into the contractual arrangements with 
counterparties. When the Group acts as a trustee or in a fiduciary 
capacity for assets it does not directly control or benefit from, the 
assets and the corresponding income belonging to a customer are 
excluded from the consolidated financial statements.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is 
generally the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement
HKFRS 9 categorises debt-like financial assets based on the 
business model within which the assets are managed, and whether 
the assets constitute a “basic lending arrangement” where their 
contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest (“SPPI”). Interest is defined as consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and may 
include a profit margin.

The classification of the financial assets and the associated 
accounting treatment is as follows:

•	 Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost when they 
are in a “hold to collect” (“HTC”) business model and have 
contractual cash flows that are SPPI in nature. The objective 
of a HTC business model is to collect contractual principal and 
interest cash flows. Sales are incidental to the objective and 
expected to be either insignificant or infrequent.
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The ECL recognised follows the three-stage model: financial 
instruments where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered 
Stage 1; financial instruments which experience a significant 
increase in credit risk are in Stage 2; and financial instruments with 
objective evidence of default or are credit-impaired are in Stage 
3.

•	 Stage 1 – Financial instruments are classified as Stage 1 at 
initial recognition and will remain under Stage 1 unless they 
experience a significant increase in credit risk or become credit-
impaired. 12-month ECL is recognised for these instruments.

•	 Stage 2 – Financial instruments which experience a significant 
increase in credit risk (SICR) subsequent to initial recognition, 
but are not yet credit-impaired, will migrate from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2. Lifetime ECL is recognised for these instruments.

Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”): SICR is assessed by 
comparing the risk of default at reporting date to the risk of default 
at origination using a range of qualitative and quantitative factors.

For wholesale exposures, a financial instrument is deemed to have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk when:

–	 the observed change in its probability of default (“PD”), as 
observed by downgrades in the Group’s internal credit risk 
rating for this instrument between origination and reporting 
dates, is more than pre-specified thresholds; or

–	 it is placed on internal credit “watchlists” for closer scrutiny 
of developing credit issues.

For retail exposures, days past due is the main driver, supplemented 
with a PD-based criterion. In any event, all retail and wholesale 
exposures that are more than 30 days past due are presumed to 
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk, unless 
assessed otherwise, and are classified as Stage 2.

Instruments in Stage 2 that no longer exhibit a significant increase 
in credit risk will be transferred back to Stage 1.

•	 Stage 3 – Financial instruments that become credit-impaired 
with evidence of default, i.e. non-performing assets, are 
transferred to Stage 3. Please refer to Note 37 for the definition 
of non-performing assets.

Lifetime ECL is recognised for these assets. ECL for Stage 3 assets 
are also known as specific allowances.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are presented net when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle them on a net basis, or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial assets have expired or when they have 
been transferred together with substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.

The Group enters into certain transactions where it transfers 
financial assets recognised on its statement of financial position 
but retains either all or a portion of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred financial assets. In such cases, the transferred financial 
assets are not derecognised from the statement of financial 
position. They also include certain transactions where control over 
the financial asset is retained, for example, by a simultaneous 
transaction (such as options) with the same counterparty to which 
the asset is transferred. In such cases, the Group continues to 
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
which is the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value 
of the transferred asset. Please refer to Note 35 for disclosures on 
transfers of financial assets.

(g)	 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ 
maturity from the date of acquisition including cash, balances with 
banks, placements with and advances to banks and short-term 
bills and notes classified as held-for-trading and FVOCI which are 
readily convertible into cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(h)	 Impairment

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)
ECL are recognised for all financial assets held at amortised cost, 
debt instruments measured at FVOCI, guarantees and undrawn 
credit commitments. It represents the present value of expected 
cash shortfalls over the residual term of a financial asset, guarantee 
or undrawn commitment.

At initial recognition, allowance is required for ECL resulting from 
possible default events that may occur within the next 12 months 
(“12-month ECL”). In the event of a significant increase in credit 
risk, allowance is required for ECL resulting from possible default 
events over the expected life of the instrument (“lifetime ECL”).
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Other relevant historical information, such as loss experience or 
proxies will be utilised for portfolios without appropriate Basel 
models and parameters, with a view to maximise the use of 
available information that is reliable and supportable.

For the wholesale portfolios, credit risk cycle indices (“CCIs”) have 
been developed for the key industries and geographies. CCIs are 
summary measures that depict broad-based, sector-wide changes 
in credit risk, which are constructed by comparing the median 
expected default frequency of firms within each segment against 
a long-run average. Expected default frequency is in turn a market 
based point-in-time default risk measure, driven by the market 
value of firms’ assets, asset volatility and leverage. CCIs are then 
used as inputs to convert the generally more through-the-cycle 
PDs derived from Basel models / parameters into the point-in-time 
equivalents by adding the unaccounted portion of cyclical 
variations, as well as to incorporate forward-looking information. 
LGDs are determined using historical loss data, which are adjusted 
for both the latest and forecasted recovery experience.

The Group relies on a Monte Carlo simulation approach to consider 
over 100 probability-weighted forward-looking scenarios in 
estimating ECL. This involves simulations of alternative CCI 
scenarios to arrive at an unbiased ECL estimate that are meant to 
cover all possible good and bad scenarios based on known 
estimates and currently available information.

For material unsecured retail portfolios under the Advanced IRBA 
(Advanced Internal Ratings-Based Approach), the Group has rolled 
out a HKFRS 9 adjusted PD, LGD and EAD-based approach during 
the year. For other retail portfolios, historical loss experience is 
used in conjunction with the forecast loss rates which take into 
account relevant macroeconomic variables, such as property-price 
and unemployment rates.

Expert credit judgement and post model adjustments
The measurement of ECLs requires the application of expert credit 
judgement. These include:

•	 assignment of credit risk ratings and determination of whether 
exposures should be placed on credit watchlists;

•	 assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has 
occurred;

•	 selecting and calibrating the ECL models such as CCIs;
•	 determining the expected remaining maturity of revolving 

products (e.g. overdrafts and credit cards);
•	 determination of the forecast loss rates; and
•	 application of additional modelled ECL where potential risks 

may not be captured in the underlying modelled ECL. Such 
top-down additional modelled ECL is quantified by means of 
applying conditional probabilities of more severe scenarios 
materializing arising from emerging risk themes and may be 
adjusted subject to Hong Kong specific conditions when 
appropriate.

A Stage 3 exposure that is restructured can be upgraded to Stage 
2 if there are reasonable grounds to conclude that the obligor is 
able to service future principal and interest payments in accordance 
with the restructured terms. Stage 3 financial assets are written-
off, in whole or in part, when the Group has exhausted all practical 
recovery efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable 
expectation of future recoveries.

Measurement of ECLs
ECL are unbiased and probability-weighted estimates of credit 
losses determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, 
considering past events, current conditions and assessments of 
future economic conditions at the reporting date. The ECL 
associated with a financial instrument is typically a product of its 
probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and 
exposure at default (“EAD”) discounted using the original effective 
interest rate to the reporting date.

•	 PD – Point-in-time (based on current conditions, adjusted to 
take into account estimates of future conditions that will 
impact PD) estimate of the likelihood of default.

•	 LGD – Estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on 
the difference between the contractual cash flows due and 
those that the Group would expect to receive, including 
recoveries from collaterals.

•	 EAD – Estimate of the expected credit exposure at time of 
default, taking into account repayments of principal and 
interest as well as expected drawdowns on undrawn credit 
commitments and potential pay-outs on guarantees issued.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, 
LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime 
PD, LGD and EAD. The 12-month and lifetime PDs represent the 
probability of default occurring over the next 12 months and the 
remaining maturity of the instrument respectively.

In most instances, expected remaining maturity is the same as the 
remaining contractual life which represents the maximum 
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to the credit 
risk of the borrower. However, for some revolving products (e.g. 
credit cards), the expected remaining maturity may exceed the 
contractual maturity. In such instances, behavioural expected 
remaining life will be used.

ECL Modelling- Point-in-Time and Forward-Looking 
Adjustments
The Group leverages the models and parameters implemented 
under the Basel II Internal Ratings-Based (“IRB”) framework where 
possible, with appropriate modifications to meet HKFRS 9 
requirements.
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(i)	 Repurchase agreements
Repurchase agreements (“Repos”) are arrangements where 
the Group sold the securities but subject to a commitment to 
repurchase or redeem the securities at a pre-determined price. The 
securities are retained on the balance sheet as Group retains 
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership and these 
securities are disclosed within “securities pledged or transfers of 
financial assets” (note 35). The consideration received is recorded 
as financial liabilities in either “due to banks” or “deposits and 
balances from customers”. Short-dated repos transacted as part 
of Treasury Markets activities are measured at FVPL.

Reversed repurchase agreements (“Reverse repos”) are 
arrangements where the Group purchased the securities but are 
subject to a commitment to resell or return the securities at a 
pre-determined price. The risk and rewards of ownership of the 
collateral are not acquired by the Group and are reflected as 
collateral received and recorded off-balance sheet. The 
consideration paid is recorded as financial assets as “cash and 
balances with central banks”, “due from banks” or “loans and 
advances to customers”. Short-dated reverse repos transacted as 
part of Treasury Markets activities are measured at FVPL.

(j)	 Goodwill
Goodwill arising from business combinations generally represents 
the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed on acquisition date. Goodwill is stated at cost less 
impairment losses and it is tested at least annually for impairment.

At the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each 
of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) or group of CGUs expected 
to benefit from the combination’s synergies.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a 
CGU, or a group of CGUs, including the goodwill, exceeds the 
applicable recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of a CGU 
or CGU group is the higher of the CGU’s or CGU group’s fair value 
less cost to sell and its value-in-use. An impairment loss on 
goodwill is recognised in the income statement and cannot be 
reversed in subsequent periods.

(k)	 Properties and other fixed assets

Owned properties and other fixed assets
Properties (including investment properties) and other fixed assets 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write 
down the costs of the assets to their estimated residual values over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. No depreciation is 
recognised when the residual value is higher than the carrying 
amount.

As at 31 December 2023, additional modelled ECL was applied 
to account for the uncertain credit outlook and the emerging risk 
themes. In determining this additional modelled ECL, the DBS 
Group has considered a range of plausible outcomes under base 
and stress scenarios using a top-down approach. The DBS Group 
has assigned probabilities to the scenarios in-line with 
management’s judgement of the likelihood of each scenario 
occurring in determining the additional modelled ECL. Hong Kong 
specific conditions have been considered in determining the final 
additional modelled ECL.

The base scenario assumes a soft-landing US and Mainland 
Chinese economy. The stress scenario is a deep recession in 2024 
with gradual recovery over 2025 and 2026. This includes a 
combination of negative GDP growth, declines in property prices 
and an increase in the unemployment rates.

Governance framework
The measurement of ECL is subject to a robust governance 
framework as described below.

•	 The DBS Group ECL Review Committee (Review Committee) 
is the overarching committee for ECL related matters and 
comprises senior management and representatives from 
functions across the Group. Significant changes to ECL models 
and methodologies and the application of thematic overlays 
are subject to the oversight and approval of the Review 
Committee.

•	 The Review Committee is supported by the DBS Group ECL 
Operating Committee (Operating Committee) which comprises 
cross functional representatives and subject matter experts. 
The Operating Committee recommends changes to ECL 
models, methodologies and thematic overlays to the Review 
Committee; provides oversight over system design, 
infrastructure and development; and establishes principles and 
significant policies pertaining to ECL. Group Credit Risk Models 
Committee oversees ECL models and credit risk models used 
by the Group.

•	 Hong Kong ECL Review Group, comprises Hong Kong senior 
management, is established and coordinates closely with DBS 
Group ECL Review Committee to govern and manage local 
ECL related matters.

•	 ECL models are subject to independent validation by the Risk 
Management Group (RMG) as well as independent reviews by 
internal and external auditors. The validation and assurance 
processes cover the review of the underlying ECL methodology 
including its logic and conceptual soundness.
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doing so eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or 
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise, or if 
the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that 
would otherwise need to be separately recorded, or if a group 
of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities 
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis.

Realised or unrealised gains or losses on financial liabilities held 
for trading and financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss, except interest expense, are taken to 
“Net trading income” in the income statement in the period 
they arise.

The changes to the fair value of financial liabilities designated 
under the fair value option that are attributable to the Group’s 
own credit risk are taken to retained earnings through other 
comprehensive income. These amounts are not transferred to 
the income statement even when realised.

•	 Derivative liabilities are treated consistently with derivative 
assets. Please refer to Note 2(f) for the accounting policy on 
derivatives.

•	 Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. These comprise predominantly the 
Group’s deposit portfolio under “Deposits and balances from 
customers” and “Due to banks” and “Other liabilities”.

Please refer to Note 14 for further details on the types of financial 
liabilities classified and measured as above.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial liabilities is the price that would be paid 
to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

Please refer also to Note 30 for further fair value measurement 
disclosures.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised from the statement of financial 
position when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

(m)	 Loan commitments, letters of credit and financial 
guarantees

Loan Commitments
Loan commitments are not recognised on the balance sheet and 
are disclosed in Note 33. Upon a loan draw-down, the amount of 
the loan is generally recognised as “Loans and advances to 
customers” on the Group’s balance sheet.

Generally, the useful lives are as follows:

Freehold land	 Not depreciated
Land	 Over the remaining lease period
Buildings	 Over the remaining lease period of the 

land on which it is situated or 
50 years, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements	 Over the lease term of the leased 
properties or 5 years, whichever is 
shorter

Furniture, fixtures and	 3 – 8 years
  equipment

Leased properties and other fixed assets
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term at the lease 
commencement date. The associated right-of-use assets are 
measured at the amount equal to the lease liability.

Lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The right-of-use assets are 
depreciated over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Extension options and termination options are included in the 
assessment of the lease term if the options are reasonably certain 
to be exercised or not exercised accordingly. If the Group changes 
its initial assessment, adjustments are made to the carrying 
amounts of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets prospectively.

The recognition exceptions for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are applied.

Please refer to Note 22 for the details of owned and leased 
properties and other fixed assets and their movements during the 
year.

(l)	 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition, classification and subsequent 
measurement
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. The Group 
generally classifies and measures its financial liabilities in 
accordance with the purpose for which the financial liabilities are 
incurred and managed. Accordingly:

•	 Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss if they are incurred for the purpose 
of repurchasing in the near term (held-for-trading), and this 
may include debt securities issued and short positions in 
securities for the purpose of ongoing market making, or 
trading. Financial liabilities at the fair value through profit or 
loss can also be designated by management on initial 
recognition (designated at fair value through profit or loss) if 
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Where hedge accounting is not applied, the derivatives are treated 
in the same way as derivatives held for trading purposes, i.e. 
realised and unrealised gains and losses are recognised in “Net 
trading income”. The Group applies hedge accounting for 
economic hedge relationships that meet the hedge accounting 
criteria. To qualify for hedge accounting, at the inception of each 
hedging relationship, the Group designates and documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item; the risk management objective for undertaking the hedge 
transaction; and the methods used to assess the effectiveness of 
the hedge. At inception and on an on-going basis, the Group also 
assesses and measures the effectiveness of the hedging relationship 
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item.

Where all relevant criteria are met, hedge accounting is applied 
to reduce the accounting mismatch between hedging instrument 
and the hedged item. The Group designates certain derivatives as 
hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk in fair value hedges or cash flow hedges as described 
below. 

Fair value hedge
For a qualifying fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value of 
the hedging instruments are recorded in the income statement, 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment on the hedged item 
is amortised using the effective interest rate method to the income 
statement over its remaining maturity. 

However, where the hedged item is an equity instrument classified 
as FVOCI, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument and 
the hedged item are both recorded in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in FVOCI revaluation reserves are not subsequently 
reclassified to the income statement.

Cash flow hedge
For qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes 
in the fair value of derivatives is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the cash flow hedge reserve in 
equity. This amount is reclassified to the income statement in the 
periods when the hedged forecast cash flows affect the income 
statement. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognised 
immediately in the income statement under “Net trading income”.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative 
gain or loss existing in the cash flow hedge reserve remains until 
the forecast transaction is recognised in the income statement. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss in the cash flow hedge reserve is 
immediately reclassified from equity to the income statement.

Letters of Credit
Letters of credit are recorded off-balance sheet as contingent 
liabilities upon issuance, and the corresponding payables to the 
beneficiaries and receivables from the applicants are recognised 
on the balance sheet upon acceptance of the underlying 
documents.

Financial Guarantees
A financial guarantee is initially recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee is 
given. Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the 
higher of:

•	 The amount of the ECL (Note 2(h)); and
•	 The unamortised portion of the fees that were received on 

initial recognition. The fee is recognised over time as income 
in accordance with the principles in Note 2(e).

Off-balance sheet credit exposures are managed for credit risk in 
the same manner as financial assets.

(n)	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:

•	 the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events;

•	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

•	 a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be 
made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period.

(o)	 Share capital
Ordinary shares, and preference shares which do not result in the 
Group having a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with the holder under conditions that are potentially unfavourable 
to the Group, are classified as equity. Incremental external costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of these instruments are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity.

Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which 
they are declared payable. Final dividends are recorded during the 
financial year in which the dividends are approved by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Other Specific Topics

(p)	 Hedging and hedge accounting 
As part of the overall risk management of the Group, derivatives 
and other instruments are used to manage exposures to interest 
rate and foreign currency risks, including exposures arising from 
forecast transactions.
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Tax assets and liabilities of the same type (current or deferred) are 
offset when a legal right of offset exists and settlement in this 
manner is intended. This applies generally when they arise from 
the same tax reporting group and relate to the same tax authority.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. The amount of 
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

The amount of deferred tax assets recognised takes into account 
the likelihood the amount that can be used to offset payables 
taxes for future profits.

Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of FVOCI 
investments, which are recognised outside the income statement, 
is also recognised outside the income statement i.e. in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVOCI reserve.

3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The Group’s accounting policies and use of estimates are integral 
to the reported results. Certain accounting estimates require 
management’s judgement in determining the appropriate 
methodology for valuation of assets and liabilities. Procedures are 
in place to ensure that methodologies are reviewed and revised 
as appropriate. The Group believes its estimates for determining 
the valuation of its assets and liabilities are appropriate.

The following is a brief description of the Group’s critical 
accounting estimates that involve management’s valuation 
judgement.

(a)	 Impairment of financial assets
It is the Group’s policy to recognise, through charges against profit, 
allowances in respect of estimated and inherent credit losses in its 
portfolio as described in Note 2(h).

ECLs are unbiased and probability-weighted amounts determined 
by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and taking into 
account past events, current conditions and assessments of future 
economic conditions, which will necessarily involve the use of 
judgement.

Economic hedges which do not qualify for hedge accounting
Some derivatives may be transacted as economic hedges as part 
of the Group’s risk management but do not qualify for hedge 
accounting under HKFRS 9. This includes swaps and other 
derivatives (e.g. futures and options) that the Group transacts to 
manage interest rate, foreign exchange and other risks. Such 
derivatives are treated in the same way as derivative held for 
trading purposes, i.e. realised and unrealised gains and losses are 
recognised in “Net trading income”.  In some cases, the hedged 
exposures are designated at fair value through profit or loss, 
thereby achieving some measure of offset in the income statement.

Please refer to Note 32 for disclosures on hedging derivatives.

(q)	 Employee benefits
Employee benefits, which include base pay, cash bonuses, share-
based compensation, contribution to defined contribution plans 
and other staff related allowances, are recognised in the income 
statement when incurred. For defined contribution plans, 
contributions are made to publicly or privately administered funds 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Once the 
contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment 
obligations.

Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised when they 
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability 
for annual unutilised leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

(r)	 Share-based compensation
Employee benefits also include share-based compensation, namely, 
the DBSH Share Plan, the DBSH Employee Share Plan and the DBSH 
Employee Share Purchase Plan (“the Plans”) run by DBSH, the 
ultimate holding company of the Bank. The details of the Plans 
are described in Note 40.

These share-based compensation expenses, which are measured 
at their fair values at grant date, are cash-settled with DBSH, 
amortised and recognised in the income statement over the 
relevant vesting periods. Non-market vesting conditions are taken 
into account in determining the number of shares to be granted 
or number of options that are expected to become exercisable on 
vesting dates. The impact of subsequent revision of original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement.

(s)	 Current and deferred taxes
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised as 
the amount expected to be paid or recovered from the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The 
Group considers uncertain tax positions generally at the level of 
the total tax liability to each tax authority for each period. The 
liability is determined based on the total amount of current tax 
expected to be paid, taking into account all tax uncertainties, using 
either an expected value approach or a single best estimate of the 
most likely outcome.
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4	 NET INTEREST INCOME

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Cash and balances with central banks 
and Due from banks 3,766 1,917

Customer non-trade loans 12,599 7,122
Trade assets 604 519
Securities and others 2,856 1,400
 

Total interest income 19,825 10,958
 

Deposits and balances from customers (8,386) (2,333)
Interest expense on subordinated liability (164) (137)
Other interest expense (539) (216)
 

Total interest expense (9,089) (2,686)
 

Net interest income 10,736 8,272
 

Comprising:
Interest income from financial assets at 

FVPL 289 161
Interest income from financial assets at 

FVOCI 1,933 757
Interest income from financial assets at 

amortised cost 17,603 10,039
Interest expense from financial liabilities 

at FVPL (215) (100)
Interest expense from financial liabilities 

not at FVPL(a) (8,874) (2,585)
 

Total 10,736 8,272
 

(a)	 Includes interest expense on lease liabilities of HK$19 million (2022: HK$22 
million).

5	 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Fee and commission income 4,024 3,689
Less: Fee and commission expense (708) (605)
 

Net fee and commission income 3,316 3,084
 

Comprising:
– Wealth management 1,924 1,656
– Transaction services (a) 864 895
– Loan related 264 244
– Cards 261 278
– Brokerage 3 11
 

Net fee and commission income 3,316 3,084
 

(a)	 Includes trade & remittances, guarantees, and deposit-related fees.

Of which:
Fee and commission income arising from:

– Financial assets or financial liabilities 
not at FVPL 1,238 1,116

– Trust or other fiduciary activities 82 72

Fee and commission expense arising 
from:
– Financial assets or financial liabilities 

not at FVPL 548 423

The Stage 1 and Stage 2 ECL allowances are determined after 
taking into account historical data and management’s assessment 
of the current economic and credit environment, country and 
portfolio risks, as well as industry practices.

In estimating Stage 3 ECL allowances, the Group assesses the gap 
between borrowers’ obligations to the Group and their repayment 
ability. The assessment takes into account various factors, including 
the economic or business outlook, the future profitability of the 
borrowers and the liquidation value of collateral. Such assessment 
requires considerable judgement.

(b)	 Fair value of financial instruments
The majority of the Group’s financial instruments reported at fair 
value are based on quoted and observable market prices or on 
internally developed models that are based on independently 
sourced or verified market parameters.

The fair value of financial instruments without an observable 
market price in a liquid market may be determined using valuation 
models. The choice of model requires significant judgement for 
complex products.

Policies and procedures have been established to facilitate the 
exercise of judgement in determining the risk characteristics of 
various financial instruments, discount rates, estimates of future 
cash flows and other factors used in the valuation process.

Please refer to Note 30 for details on valuation process and the 
fair value hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments measured 
at fair value.

(c)	 Income taxes
Judgement is involved in determining the group-wide provision 
for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax 
issues based on reasonable estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Note 26 provides details of the Group’s deferred tax 
assets / liabilities.
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9	 TOTAL EXPENSES

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Employee benefits
– Salaries and other short term 

employee benefits 3,929 3,577
– Pensions 216 176
– Share-based compensation 95 70

Premises and equipment expenses 
excluding depreciation
– Expenses relating to short-term leases 

and low-value assets 4 1
– Others 208 213

Depreciation expenses
– Owned properties and other fixed 

assets 268 275
– Leased properties and other fixed 

assets 264 261
Auditor’s remuneration 10 10
Computerisation expenses 348 343
Other operating expenses 751 644
 

Total 6,093 5,570
 

10	 ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT AND OTHER LOSSES

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Loans and advances to customers 582 370
Off-balance sheet credit exposures and 

others (18) 20
 

Total 564 390
 

6	 NET TRADING INCOME

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Net trading income(a)

– Foreign exchange 1,026 1,094
– Interest rates, equities and others (66) 250

 

960 1,344
Net gain/(loss) from financial instruments 

designated at fair value 128 (129)
 

Total 1,088 1,215
 

(a)	 Includes income from assets that are mandatorily classified at FVPL.

7	 NET INCOME/(LOSS) FROM INVESTMENT SECURITIES

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Debt securities at:

– FVOCI 8 (61)

– Amortised cost 21 –
Equity securities at FVOCI 29 16
 

Total 58 (45)
 

Of which dividend income from:
– Unlisted investments 29 16

 

Total 29 16
 

8	 OTHER INCOME

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Rental income 21 19
Others 49 73
 

Total 70 92
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The following table outlines the changes in ECL allowances under HKFRS 9 in 2023 and 2022 which are attributed to the following:

•	 Transfers between stages.
•	 Net portfolio changes, which are determined on an obligor basis i.e. originations with new obligors net of derecognitions from former obligors.
•	 Remeasurements, which include the impact of changes in model, model inputs or assumptions, partial repayments, additional drawdowns 

on existing facilities and changes in ECL following a transfer between stages. 

General allowances

(Non-impaired)

Specific allowances

(Impaired) Total
HK$ millions Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

2023

Balance at 1 January

Allowance for credit and other losses 1,283 878 1,467 3,628

Transfer to/(from) 124 (175) 51 –

– Stage 1 (20) 13 7 –

– Stage 2 144 (188) 44 –

– Stage 3 – – – –

Net portfolio changes 60 (36) – 24

Remeasurements (153) 206 487 540

Net write-offs(a) – – (816) (816)

Exchange and other movements – – 58 58
 

Balance at 31 December 1,314 873 1,247 3,434
 

Charge in the income statement 31 (5) 538 564
 

2022

Balance at 1 January

Allowance for credit and other losses 1,148 1,084 1,363 3,595

Transfer to/(from) 80 (148) 68 –

– Stage 1 (12) 7 5 –

– Stage 2 92 (155) 63 –

– Stage 3 – – – –

Net portfolio changes 41 (30) – 11

Remeasurements 14 (28) 393 379

Net write-offs(a) – – (389) (389)

Exchange and other movements – – 32 32
 

Balance at 31 December 1,283 878 1,467 3,628
 

Charge in the income statement 135 (206) 461 390 

(a)	 Write-offs are net of recoveries.
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The following table provides additional information on the financial instruments that are subject to loss allowances as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022. FVPL assets and FVOCI equity instruments are not subject to loss allowances and therefore not reflected in the table.

Gross carrying value(b) ECL allowances balances
  

In HK$ millions Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
2023
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 1,415 – – 1,415 – – – –
Government securities and treasury 

bills(a) 60,628 – – 60,628 1 – – 1
Due from banks 102,248 – – 102,248 1 – – 1
Bank and corporate securities(a) 21,377 – – 21,377 3 – – 3
Loans and advances to customers

– Retail 66,637 565 588 67,790 564 299 129 992
– Wholesale 180,178 15,562 2,350 198,090 637 549 1,111 2,297

Other assets 581 109 7 697 1 1 7 9

Liabilities
ECL on guarantees and other off-

balance sheet exposures 107 24 – 131
 
Total 1,314 873 1,247 3,434 

2022
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 4,873 – – 4,873 – – – –
Government securities and treasury 

bills(a) 57,144 – – 57,144 1 – – 1
Due from banks 98,890 – – 98,890 1 – – 1
Bank and corporate securities(a) 22,425 – – 22,425 3 – – 3
Loans and advances to customers

– Retail 71,580 463 394 72,437 540 259 87 886
– Wholesale 190,220 13,913 3,090 207,223 620 586 1,372 2,578

Other assets 1,030 7 8 1,045 2 – 8 10

Liabilities
ECL on guarantees and other off-

balance sheet exposures 116 33 – 149
 
Total 1,283 878 1,467 3,628 

(a)	 Includes loss allowances of HK$2 million for debt securities that are classified at FVOCI (2022: HK$2 million)
(b)	 Balances exclude off-balance sheet exposures

Sensitivity of ECL calculation to macroeconomic variables
The Group assessed ECL sensitivity for the wholesale and retail portfolios to changes in the allocation of exposures between Stages 1 
and 2. ECL is estimated to reduce by HK$545 million (2022: HK$569 million) should all the exposures in Stage 2 return to Stage 1 and 
were assigned a lower 12-month ECL instead of lifetime ECL. The impact also reflects the higher PDs ascribed to Stage 2 exposures in 
addition to the recognition of lifetime instead of 12-month ECL.

As ECL estimation relies on multiple variables, no single analysis can fully demonstrate the sensitivity of the ECL to changes in 
macroeconomic variables.

Relief measures offered to customers
In response to the impact of COVID-19, various forms of relief measures, such as Pre-approved Principal Payment Holiday Scheme 
(“PPPHS”) launched by HKMA together with the Banking Sector SME Lending Coordination Mechanism, had been offered to eligible 
individual and corporate customers. Payment deferments were considered to be non-substantial modifications and accounted for as a 
continuation of the existing loan agreements. No material modification gains or losses were recognised. As the pandemic had passed 
and the local economy was recovering, the HKMA considered that the PPPHS had fulfilled its purpose. An orderly exit from PPPHS has 
commenced when it expired at the end of July 2023.

In line with regulatory guidelines, customers’ utilisation of relief measures does not automatically result in a significant increase in credit 
risk and a transfer to Stage 2. The assessment of customer’s risk of default continues to be performed comprehensively, taking into 
account the customer’s ability to make payments based on the rescheduled payments and their creditworthiness in the long term.
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Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 
on the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for an 
overseas branch is charged at the appropriate current rate of 
taxation ruling in the jurisdiction in which it operates.

(b)	 The deferred income tax debited to the consolidated 
income statement comprises the following temporary 
differences:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Accelerated depreciation allowances (4) (5)
Impairment allowances 33 13
Share-based compensation (4) –
Accrued expenses – 5
 

25 13
 

(c)	 The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax 
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 
16.5%) is as follows:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Profit before income tax 8,611 6,658
 
Tax calculated at tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 

16.5%) 1,421 1,099
Effect of different tax rates in other 

jurisdiction (2) –
Income not subject to tax (110) (3)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 28 25
Over provision in prior years (7) (17)
 

Income tax expense 1,330 1,104
 

13	 DIVIDENDS

(a)	 Ordinary shares

2023 2022
Per share HK$ Per share HK$

HK$ millions HK$ millions
 

First interim dividend 0.357 2,500 0.179 1,250

Second interim dividend 0.429 3,000 – –
 

0.786 5,500 0.179 1,250
 

(b)	 Preference shares
During 2022, preferential dividend of HK$45 million was paid to 
holder of Class A preference shares. The Class A preference shares 
were redeemed and cancelled in January 2022 and no preferential 
dividend was paid during the year.

(c)	 Perpetual Capital Securities
Perpetual Capital Securities (“PCS”) were issued in January 2022, 
distribution of HK$40 million was paid to the holder of PCS during 
the year (2022: Nil).

11	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or payable to 
directors of the Bank during the year are as follows:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Fees(a) 4 5
Salaries, housing and other allowances 

and benefits(b) 32 30
Contributions paid under a retirement 

benefit scheme 1 1
 

37 36
 

(a)	 The directors’ fees, if any, are payable in 2023 to eligible persons who acted 
as directors of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2023. Such 
fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Bank.

(b) The amount includes cash bonus accrued during the year, to be paid in the 
following year.  Such cash bonus is subject to the approval of DBSH’s Board 
of Directors. The amount also includes the estimated money value of other 
perquisites.

During the year, no termination benefits were paid by the Bank 
to any of the Bank’s directors.

During the year, the Bank did not incur any payment to third parties 
for making available directors’ services.

(b)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, 
arrangements and contracts

No transaction, arrangement and contracts of significance in 
relation to the Bank’s business, to which the Bank or any of its 
subsidiaries or its holding companies or any subsidiary of its 
holding companies was a party and in which a director of the Bank 
or the director’s connected party had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

12	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a)	 Income tax expense in the consolidated income 
statement is comprised of:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Hong Kong Profits Tax
– Current year 1,344 1,106
– Over provision in prior years (45) (16)

Overseas tax
– Current year 6 1

 

Current income tax 1,305 1,091
 

Deferred income tax (Note 26(b))
– Current year (13) 14
– Under/(over) provision in prior years 38 (1)

 

25 13
 

Total 1,330 1,104
 



P25	 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

14	 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In HK$ millions
Mandatorily  

at FVPL(c)

FVPL 
designated FVOCI-Debt FVOCI-Equity

Amortised
cost

Hedging 
derivatives Total

 

2023
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks – – – – 1,415 – 1,415
Government securities and treasury bills 2,950 – 50,460 – 10,167 – 63,577
Due from banks – – – – 102,247 – 102,247
Derivatives 1,803 – – – – 1,207 3,010
Bank and corporate securities 793 – 11,438 364 9,574 – 22,169
Loans and advances to customers – – – – 262,591 – 262,591
Other financial assets – – – – 7,805 – 7,805
 

Total financial assets 5,546 – 61,898 364 393,799 1,207 462,814
Non-financial assets(a) 4,807
 

Total assets 467,621
 

Liabilities
Due to banks 2,733 – – – 5,827 – 8,560
Deposits and balances from customers – 9,080 – – 381,519 – 390,599
Derivatives 1,611 – – – – 1,947 3,558
Certificates of deposit issued – – – – – – –
Other financial liabilities(b) 1,793 – – – 13,621 – 15,414
Subordinated liability – – – – 2,343 – 2,343
 

Total financial liabilities 6,137 9,080 – – 403,310 1,947 420,474
Non-financial liabilities(b) 419
 

Total liabilities 420,893
 

2022
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks – – – – 4,873 – 4,873
Government securities and treasury bills 2,940 – 46,867 – 10,276 – 60,083
Due from banks – – – – 98,889 – 98,889
Derivatives 2,316 – – – – 731 3,047
Bank and corporate securities 794 – 13,723 317 8,701 – 23,535
Loans and advances to customers – – – – 276,196 – 276,196
Other financial assets – – – – 4,092 – 4,092
 

Total financial assets 6,050 – 60,590 317 403,027 731 470,715
Non-financial assets(a) 5,160
 

Total assets 475,875
 

Liabilities
Due to banks 1,672 – – – 9,121 – 10,793
Deposits and balances from customers – 8,986 – – 385,374 – 394,360
Derivatives 2,126 – – – – 3,164 5,290
Certificates of deposit issued – – – – 3,105 – 3,105
Other financial liabilities(b) 2,037 – – – 13,898 – 15,935
Subordinated liability – – – – 2,339 – 2,339
 

Total financial liabilities 5,835 8,986 – – 413,837 3,164 431,822
Non-financial liabilities(b) 610
 

Total liabilities 432,432
 

(a)	 Includes goodwill, properties and other fixed assets, and deferred tax assets
(b)	 Includes current tax liabilities. Lease liabilities are included in other financial liabilities
(c)	 Includes assets and liabilities that are held for trading and debt-type financial assets that are not SPPI in nature
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15	 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

Cash in hand 631 846

Balances with central banks 784 4,027 

Total 1,415 4,873 

16	 GOVERNMENT SECURITIES AND TREASURY BILLS

In HK$ millions
Mandatorily 

at FVPL FVOCI 
Amortised 

cost Total 

2023
Treasury bills(a) 371 30,732 494 31,597
Other debt securities(b) 2,579 19,728 9,674 31,981
 

2,950 50,460 10,168 63,578 

Allowance for credit and  
other losses – – (1) (1) 

2,950 50,460 10,167 63,577
Of which:

– Listed in Hong Kong, at fair 
value 2,579 – – 2,579

– Listed outside Hong Kong, 
at fair value – 866 – 866

– Listed outside Hong Kong, 
at cost – – 8,164 8,164

– Unlisted, at fair value 371 49,594 – 49,965
– Unlisted, at cost – – 2,003 2,003 

2,950 50,460 10,167 63,577 

Analysed by issuer as follows:

– Sovereigns 2,950 50,460 10,167 63,577 

Analysed by rating agency 
designation as follows:

– AAA – – – –
– AA- to AA+ 2,950 50,421 2,369 55,740
– A- to A+ – 39 7,798 7,837 

2,950 50,460 10,167 63,577 

In HK$ millions
Mandatorily 

at FVPL FVOCI 
Amortised 

cost Total 

2022
Treasury bills(a) 1,661 19,113 – 20,774

Other debt securities(b) 1,279 27,754 10,277 39,310
 

2,940 46,867 10,277 60,084 

Allowance for credit and  
other losses – – (1) (1) 

2,940 46,867 10,276 60,083

Of which:
– Listed in Hong Kong, at fair 

value 1,279 – – 1,279
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at fair value – 711 – 711
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at cost – – 8,781 8,781

– Unlisted, at fair value 1,661 46,156 – 47,817

– Unlisted, at cost – – 1,495 1,495 

2,940 46,867 10,276 60,083 

Analysed by issuer as follows:

– Sovereigns 2,940 46,867 10,276 60,083 

Analysed by rating agency 
designation as follows:

– AAA – 27,043 1,855 28,898

– AA- to AA+ 2,940 19,786 – 22,726

– A- to A+ – 38 8,421 8,459 

2,940 46,867 10,276 60,083 

(a)	 During the year, there is no financial assets pledged or transferred (2022: 
HK$1,661 million) (See Note 35)

(b)	 Includes financial assets pledged or transferred of HK$4,506 million (2022: 
HK$2,067 million) (See Note 35)

The ratings refer to Standard & Poor’s ratings (or their equivalent) 
to the respective issues of the securities, while in the absence of 
such issue ratings, ratings designated for the issuers or location 
of incorporation of the issuers are reported.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the above debt securities 
classified as amortised cost is HK$10,037 million (2022: 
HK$10,070 million).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no impaired, 
overdue or rescheduled FVOCI and amortised cost financial assets.
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17	 DUE FROM BANKS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 
Balances with banks 7,342 5,431 
Placements with and advances to banks 94,906 93,459 
Gross amount due from banks 102,248 98,890
Allowance for credit and other losses (1) (1) 
Net amount due from banks 102,247 98,889 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no impaired, 
overdue or rescheduled placements with and advances to banks.

18	 BANK AND CORPORATE SECURITIES

In HK$ millions
Mandatorily 

at FVPL FVOCI
Amortised 

cost Total 
2023
Debt securities(a) 793 11,438 9,575 21,806
Equity securities – 364 – 364 

793 11,802 9,575 22,170
Allowance for credit and other 

losses – – (1) (1) 
793 11,802 9,574 22,169 

Of which:

Debt securities
– Listed in Hong Kong, at fair 

value – 146 – 146
– Listed in Hong Kong, at cost – – 367 367
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at fair value 124 7,771 – 7,895
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at cost – – 2,560 2,560
– Unlisted, at fair value 669 3,521 – 4,190
– Unlisted, at cost – – 6,647 6,647 

793 11,438 9,574 21,805 
Equity securities

– Unlisted, at fair value – 364 – 364 
793 11,802 9,574 22,169 

Analysed by issuer as follows:

– Public sector entities – 199 5,600 5,799
– Banks 793 11,239 2,266 14,298
– Corporates – 364 1,708 2,072 

793 11,802 9,574 22,169 
Debt securities analysed by rating agency designation as follows: 

– AAA – 10,040 196 10,236
– AA- to AA+ – 980 495 1,475
– A to A+ 793 418 3,189 4,400
– BBB- to BBB+ – – 94 94
– Unrated – – 5,600 5,600 

793 11,438 9,574 21,805 

In HK$ millions
Mandatorily 

at FVPL FVOCI
Amortised 

cost Total 

2022
Debt securities(a) 794 13,723 8,702 23,219

Equity securities – 317 – 317 

794 14,040 8,702 23,536
Allowance for credit and other 

losses – – (1) (1) 

794 14,040 8,701 23,535 

Of which:

Debt securities
– Listed in Hong Kong, at fair 

value – 143 – 143

– Listed in Hong Kong, at cost – – 389 389
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at fair value 121 10,400 – 10,521
– Listed outside Hong Kong, 

at cost – – 3,602 3,602

– Unlisted, at fair value 673 3,180 – 3,853

– Unlisted, at cost – – 4,710 4,710 

794 13,723 8,701 23,218 

Equity securities

– Unlisted, at fair value – 317 – 317 

794 14,040 8,701 23,535 

Analysed by issuer as follows:

– Public sector entities – – 4,710 4,710

– Banks 794 13,723 3,320 17,837

– Corporates – 317 671 988 

794 14,040 8,701 23,535 

Debt securities analysed by rating agency designation as follows: 

– AAA – 13,319 199 13,518

– AA- to AA+ – – 504 504

– A to A+ 794 404 3,171 4,369

– BBB- to BBB+ – – 117 117

– Unrated – – 4,710 4,710 

794 13,723 8,701 23,218 

(a)	 ECL for FVOCI securities amounting to HK$2 million (2022: $2 million) are 
not shown in the table, as these securities are recorded at fair value

The ratings refer to Standard & Poor’s ratings (or their equivalent) 
to the respective issues of the securities, while in the absence of 
such issue ratings, ratings designated for the issuers are reported.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the above debt securities 
classified as amortised cost is HK$9,494 million (2022: HK$8,556 
million).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no impaired, 
overdue or rescheduled FVOCI and amortised cost financial assets.
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20	 OTHER ASSETS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 
Accrued interest receivables 1,383 1,105
Acceptances 690 1,037
Deferred tax assets (Note 26(b)) 809 1,130
Goodwill 168 168
Others 5,741 1,960 

8,791 5,400
Allowance for credit and other losses (9) (10) 

8,782 5,390
 

21	principal  subsidiary

The principal subsidiary of the Group, which is wholly and directly 
owned by the Bank, is listed below:

Name of 
company

Place of
incorporation

Place of 
operation

Particulars of
issued share 
capital

Principal 
activities

 

Ting Hong 
Nominees 
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 10,000 
shares

Provision of 
nominee, 
trustee and 
agency 
services

 

19	 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 
Gross loans and advances to customers 265,880 279,660

Allowance for credit and other losses
– Specific allowances (1,240) (1,459)
– General allowances (2,049) (2,005) 

262,591 276,196 
Comprising:

– Trade bills 1,374 3,991
– Loans 261,217 272,205 

262,591 276,196 

Loans and advances to customers include finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts receivables and are analysed as follows:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 
Gross investments in finance leases and 

hire purchase contracts receivables:
– Not later than one year 398 430
– Later than one year and not later 

than five years 1,618 1,649
– Later than five years 5,288 5,773 

7,304 7,852
Unearned future finance income (1,643) (1,784) 
Net investments in finance leases and hire 

purchase contracts receivables 5,661 6,068 

The net investments in finance leases and 
hire purchase contracts receivables are 
analysed as follows:
– Not later than one year 243 271
– Later than one year and not later 

than five years 1,074 1,091
– Later than five years 4,344 4,706 

5,661 6,068 

Gross investments in finance lease and unearned future finance income in 2023 
and 2022 are undiscounted lease payments to be received including fixed and 
variable interest rate contracts.

The unguaranteed residual values included in the gross investments 
in finance leases and hire purchase contracts receivables as at 31 
December 2023 and 2022 are not material.

The specific allowances for finance leases and hire purchase 
contracts receivables amounted to HK$29 million as at 31 
December 2023 (2022: HK$23 million).
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22	 PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Owned properties and other fixed assets (Note 22(a)) 2,122 2,119

Leased properties and other fixed assets (Note 22(b)) 1,708 1,743
 

Total 3,830 3,862
 

(a)	 Owned Properties and other fixed assets 

In HK$ millions

Freehold
land and
building

Land and
buildings

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment Subtotal

Investment
properties Total

 

2023
Cost 

As at 1 January 2023 23 2,350 2,643 5,016 33 5,049
Additions – 25 247 272 – 272
Disposals/written off(a) – (40) (42) (82) – (82)

 

As at 31 December 2023 23 2,335 2,848 5,206 33 5,239
 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 1 January 2023 17 997 1,895 2,909 21 2,930
Charge for the year (Note 9) – 20 248 268 – 268
Disposals/written off (a) – (40) (41) (81) – (81)

 

As at 31 December 2023 17 977 2,102 3,096 21 3,117
 

Net book value
As at 31 December 2023 6 1,358 746 2,110 12 2,122

 

2022
Cost 

As at 1 January 2022 23 2,347 2,781 5,151 33 5,184
Additions – 5 242 247 – 247
Disposals/written off(a) – (2) (380) (382) – (382)

 

As at 31 December 2022 23 2,350 2,643 5,016 33 5,049
 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 1 January 2022 17 983 2,007 3,007 21 3,028
Charge for the year (Note 9) – 16 259 275 – 275
Disposals/written off (a) – (2) (371) (373) – (373)

 

As at 31 December 2022 17 997 1,895 2,909 21 2,930
 

Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 6 1,353 748 2,107 12 2,119

 

(a)	 Included amount written off of HK$1 million (2022: HK$9 million).

The total market value of all properties as at 31 December 2023 was HK$6,211 million (2022: HK$6,461 million), of which investment 
properties accounted for HK$187 million (2022: HK$203 million). The market values are determined using investment method or using 
a combination of comparable sales and investment methods. The properties are classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and 
the significant unobservable input used for valuation is market yield. For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no transfers 
into or out of Level 3.



ANNUAL REPORT 2023	 P30

23	 DEPOSITS AND BALANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Deposits from customers, at amortised 
cost 381,519 385,374

Structured investment deposits classified 
as financial liabilities designated at 
FVPL(a) 9,080 8,986

 

390,599 394,360
 

Analysed by:
– Demand deposits and current 

accounts 49,561 65,937
– Savings deposits 140,563 159,106
– Time, call and notice deposits 200,475 169,317

 

390,599 394,360
 

(a)	 Changes in fair value arising from changes in credit risk are determined as 
the amount of change in their fair value that is not attributable to changes 
in market conditions that give rise to market risk. Changes in market 
conditions that give rise to market risk include changes in benchmark interest 
rate, foreign exchange rate or index of prices or rates. Changes in fair value 
arising from changes in credit risk are considered not significant. The carrying 
amount of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 
loss was HK$80 million higher than the contractual amount at maturity as 
at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$23 million higher).

24	 CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT ISSUED

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Certificates of deposit issued, measured 
at amortised cost – 3,105

 

25	 OTHER LIABILITIES

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Accrued interest payable 1,571 841
Acceptances 690 1,037
Current income tax liabilities (Note 26(a)) 419 610
Payable in respect of short sale of 

securities 1,793 2,037
Lease liabilities(c) 1,790 1,823
Other liabilities and provisions(a) (b) 9,570 10,197
 

15,833 16,545
 

(a)	 Includes income received in advance of HK$1,318 million (2022: HK$1,467 
million) arising from the 16-year distribution agreement with Manulife to 
be amortised on a straight-line basis. HK$165 million (2022: HK$163 million) 
of the income received in advance was recognised as fee income during the 
year.

(b)	 Includes allowance for credit and other losses of HK$131 million (2022: 
HK$149 million).

(c)	 Total lease payments made during the year amounted to HK$281 million 
(2022: HK$287 million).

The net book values of land and buildings and investment 
properties held by the Group are as follows:

2023 2022

In HK$ millions
Land and
buildings

Investment
properties

Land and
buildings

Investment
properties

 

Freeholds
Held outside Hong Kong 6 – 6 –

 

Leaseholds
Held in Hong Kong
– Leases of over 50 years 126 1 126 1
– Leases of between  

10 to 50 years 1,231 11 1,226 11
Held outside Hong Kong
– Leases of between  

10 to 50 years 1 – 1 –
 

1,358 12 1,353 12
 

(b)	 Lease properties and other fixed assets

In HK$ millions Properties
Other fixed 

assets Total
 

2023
As at 1 January 2023 1,602 141 1,743
Additions of right-of-use assets 

during the year 186 – 186
Changes of lease term 43 – 43
Depreciation charge for the year (245) (19) (264)
 

As at 31 December 2023 1,586 122 1,708
 

2022
As at 1 January 2022 1,748 160 1,908
Additions of right-of-use assets 

during the year 3 – 3
Changes of lease term 93 – 93
Depreciation charge for the year (242) (19) (261)
 

As at 31 December 2022 1,602 141 1,743
 

The Group’s leases comprise primarily of office premises, branches 
and data centres. The leases of office premises are contracted for 
periods up to 5 years, whilst leases of other assets are up to 2 years. 
Some leases may also include renewal rights.

Lease payments are generally agreed upfront except for lease 
payments on certain significant leases of office premises and for 
renewal periods whereby the lease payments are subject to 
periodic adjustments based on prevailing market rates.
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26	 TAXATION

a.	 Current income tax liabilities

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Current income tax liabilities (Note 25) 
Hong Kong profits tax payable 402 597
Overseas tax payable 17 13

 

419 610
 

b.	 Deferred income tax

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

Included in “Other assets” (Note 20)
– Deferred tax assets 809 1,130 

809 1,130 

The movements on the net deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
as follows:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

As at 1 January 1,130 393
Deferred income tax charged  

to income statement (Note 12(a)) (25) (13)
Deferred income tax (debited)/credited 

to equity (Note 28(b)) (296) 750 

As at 31 December 809 1,130 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following 
items:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

Deferred tax assets
Impairment allowances 360 393
Share-based compensation 26 22
Accrued expenses 2 2
FVOCI financial assets 137 257
Cash flow hedges 392 568

 

917 1,242 

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated depreciation allowances (108) (112) 

(108) (112) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same 
fiscal authority. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are to be 
recovered and settled after one year and the following amounts, 
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the 
statement of financial position:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

Deferred tax assets 917 1,242
Deferred tax liabilities (108) (112) 

Deferred tax assets included in  
“Other assets” 809 1,130 

27	 SUBORDINATED LIABILITY

On 13 December 2022, the Bank redeemed a subordinated loan 
of US$540 million from DBSH.

On the same day, the Bank issued a new subordinated loan (the 
“Loan”) of US$300 million to DBSH. Interest on the Loan is payable 
quarterly at USD 3-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
(“SOFR”) plus 1.87% per annum. The Loan has a repayment date 
of 13 December 2032 and may be prepaid on 13 December 2027 
or any date thereafter. The terms require the Loan to be written 
off if and when the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA”) 
notifies the Bank that a write-off, or a public sector injection of 
capital (or equivalent support), is necessary, without which the 
Bank would become non-viable. In addition, the lender of the 
Loan is subject to the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution 
Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority. 
The Loan qualifies as Tier 2 capital of the Bank under the Banking 
(Capital) Rules made by the HKMA.

28	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a.	 Share capital

2023 2022
Number of 

shares
HK$

millions
Number of 

shares
HK$

millions
 

Ordinary shares

At 1 January
7,000

million 8,995
7,000

 million 7,595
Redemption of  

preference shares (ii) – – – 1,400
 

31 December
7,000

million 8,995
7,000

 million 8,995
 

Preference shares(i)

At 1 January – – 140 1,400
Redemption of  

preference shares – – (140) (1,400)
31 December – – – –
 

Issued share capital at  
31 December 8,995 8,995

 

(i)	 On 13 January 2022, the Bank redeemed its 140 non-cumulative Class A 
preference shares from DBSH for a consideration of HK$1,400 million and 
the preference shares were cancelled upon the redemption.

	 On the same date, the Bank issued Perpetual Capital Securities (“PCS”) of 
HK$1,400 million to its parent holding company, DBSH. Please refer to Note 
29 for details on PCS.

(ii)	 The total issued capital as at 31 December 2023 included redemption of 
preference shares via payment out of distributable profits in accordance 
with the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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b.	 Reserves

Group

In HK$ millions
Capital 

reserves
FVOCI 

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 

reserve
General
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total
reserves

 

2023
Balance as at 1 January 2023 12 (1,102) (2,877) 9 2,399 34,607 33,048
Net valuation taken to equity – 779 290 – – – 1,069
Transferred to income statement – (9) 780 – – – 771
Deferred income tax debited to equity  

(Note 26(b)) – (120) (176) – – – (296)
Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – – 7,281 7,281
Dividends (Note 13) – – – – – (5,540) (5,540)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 12 (452) (1,983) 9 2,399 36,348 36,333
 

2022
Balance as at 1 January 2022 12 144 (265) 9 2,399 31,748 34,047
Net valuation taken to equity – (1,569) (2,981) – – – (4,550)
Transferred to income statement – 89 (147) – – – (58)
Transfer (Note 28(a)(ii)) – – – – – (1,400) (1,400)
Deferred income tax credited to equity  

(Note 26(b)) – 234 516 – – – 750

Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – – 5,554 5,554

Dividends (Note 13) – – – – – (1,295) (1,295)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 12 (1,102) (2,877) 9 2,399 34,607 33,048
 

Bank

In HK$ millions
FVOCI 

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 

reserve
General 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
reserves

 

2023
Balance as at 1 January 2023 (1,102) (2,877) 9 2,285 34,533 32,848
Net valuation taken to equity 779 290 – – – 1,069
Transferred to income statement (9) 780 – – – 771
Deferred income tax debited to equity (Note 26(b)) (120) (176) – – – (296)
Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – 7,279 7,279
Dividends – – – – (5,540) (5,540)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 (452) (1,983) 9 2,285 36,272 36,131
 

2022
Balance as at 1 January 2022 144 (265) 9 2,285 31,675 33,848
Net valuation taken to equity (1,569) (2,981) – – – (4,550)
Transferred to income statement 89 (147) – – – (58)
Transfer (Note 28(a)(ii)) – – – – (1,400) (1,400)
Deferred income tax credited to equity (Note 26(b)) 234 516 – – – 750
Profit attributable to shareholders – – – – 5,553 5,553
Dividends – – – – (1,295) (1,295)
 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 (1,102) (2,877) 9 2,285 34,533 32,848
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Valuation models go through an assurance process carried out by 
the Risk Management Group, independent of the model 
developers. This assurance process would review the underlying 
methodology including its logic and conceptual soundness 
together with the model inputs and outputs. Model assurances 
are conducted prior to implementation and subject to regular 
review or when there are significant changes arising from market 
or portfolio changes. Where necessary, the Group also imposes 
model reserves and other adjustments in determining fair value. 
Models are approved by the Group Market and Liquidity Risk 
Committee.

The majority of OTC derivatives are traded in active markets. 
Valuations are determined using generally accepted models 
(discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes model, interpolation 
techniques) based on quoted market prices for similar instruments 
or underlying instruments or market parameters.

A process of independent price verification (“IPV”) is in place to 
establish the accuracy of the market parameters used when the 
marking is performed by the Front Office. The IPV process entails 
independent checks to compare traders’ marks to independent 
sources such as broker/dealer sources or market consensus 
providers. The results of the IPV are reviewed by independent 
control functions on a monthly basis.

For illiquid financial instruments where mark-to-market is not 
possible, the Group will value these products using an approved 
valuation model. Prices and parameters used as inputs to the 
model or to any intermediate technique involving a transformation 
process must be derived using approved market reliable sources. 
Where possible, the inputs must be checked against multiple 
sources for reliability and accuracy. Reliance will be placed on the 
model assurance process established by Risk Management Group 
for assurance of valuation models as fit for purpose.

The Group uses various market accepted benchmark interest rates 
such as SOFR and Swap Offer Rates to determine the fair value of 
the financial instruments.

Where unobservable inputs are used in these models resulting in 
Level 3 classification, valuation adjustments or reserves will be 
taken for the purpose of adjusting for uncertainty in valuations. 
Valuation adjustment or reserve methodologies are used to 
substantiate the unobservable inputs and attempt to quantify the 
level of uncertainty in valuations. Such methodologies are 
governed by the Valuation Policy and Supporting Standards and 
require approval by the Group Market and Liquidity Risk 
Committee.

The main valuation adjustments and reserves are described below:

Model and Parameter Uncertainty Adjustments
Valuation uncertainties may occur during fair value measurement 
either due to uncertainties in the required input parameters or 
uncertainties in the modelling methods used in the valuation 
process. In such situations, adjustments may be necessary to take 
these factors into account.

Property revaluation reserve represents the difference between the 
carrying amount and the fair value of the properties transferred 
as investment property at the date of changes.

General reserve is comprised of transfers from the previous years’ 
retained earnings.

As at 31 December 2023, HK$573 million was earmarked as the 
regulatory reserve from the retained earnings (2022: HK$728 
million). The regulatory reserve is maintained to satisfy the 
provisions of the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance for prudential 
supervision purposes. Movements in the reserve are made directly 
through retained earnings and in consultation with the HKMA.

29	 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

On 13 January 2022, the Bank issued Perpetual Capital Securities 
(“PCS”) of HK$1,400 million to its parent holding company, DBSH. 
Distributions are payable annually at the rate of 2.86% per annum 
at the discretion of the Bank. The PCS are redeemable on 13 
January 2027 or any date thereafter. The terms require the PCS 
to be written off if and when the HKMA notifies the Bank that a 
write-off, or a public sector injection of capital (or equivalent 
support), is necessary, without which the Bank would become 
non-viable. In addition, the holder of the PCS is subject to the 
exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the 
relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority. The PCS qualify as 
Additional Tier 1 capital of the Bank under the Banking (Capital) 
Rules made by the HKMA.

30	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.	 Valuation process
The valuation processes within the Group are governed by the 
Valuation Policy and Supporting Standards. These policy and 
standards apply to financial assets and liabilities where mark-to-
market or model valuation is required. The overall framework is 
endorsed by Group Market and Liquidity Risk Committee and Risk 
Executive Committee before approval by the Board Risk 
Management Committee.

The Valuation Policy and Supporting Standards govern the 
revaluation of all financial assets and liabilities that are fair value 
measured, covering both market prices as well as model inputs. 
Financial assets and liabilities are marked directly using reliable 
and independent market prices or by using reliable and 
independent market parameters (as model inputs) in conjunction 
with a valuation model. Products with a liquid market or those 
traded via an exchange will fall under the former while most over-
the-counter (“OTC”) products will form the latter. Market 
parameters include interest rate yield curves, credit spreads, 
exchange prices, dividend yields, option volatilities and foreign 
exchange rates.
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For example, where market data such as prices or rates for an 
instrument are no longer observable after an extended period of 
time, these inputs used to value the financial instruments may no 
longer be relevant in the current market conditions. In such 
situations, adjustments may be necessary to address the pricing 
uncertainty arising from the use of stale market data inputs.

Credit Valuation Adjustments
Credit valuation adjustments are taken to reflect the impact on 
fair value of counterparty credit risk. Credit valuation adjustments 
are based upon the creditworthiness of the counterparties, 
magnitude of the current or potential exposure on the underlying 
transactions, netting and collateral arrangements, and the maturity 
of the underlying transactions.

Day 1 Profit or Loss (P&L) Reserve
In situations where the market for an instrument is not active and 
its fair value is established using a valuation model based on 
significant unobservable market parameters, Day 1 P&L reserve is 
utilised to defer the P&L arising from the difference between the 
transaction price and the model value. A market parameter is 
defined as being significant when its impact on the Day 1 P&L is 
greater than an internally determined threshold. The Day 1 P&L 
reserve is released to profit or loss as the parameters become 
observable or the transaction closed out or amortised over the 
duration of the transaction. As at 31 December 2023, there was 
no Day 1 P&L reserve (2022: Nil).

Bid Offer Adjustments
The Group often holds, at varying points in time, both long or 
short positions in financial instruments which are valued using mid 
market levels. Bid offer adjustments are then made to account for 
close-out costs.

b.	 Fair value hierarchy
The fair value hierarchy accords the highest level to observable 
inputs such as unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities and the lowest level to unobservable 
inputs. The fair value measurement of each financial instrument 
is categorised in accordance to the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the input with the lowest level that is significant to 
the entire measurement. If unobservable inputs are deemed as 
significant, the financial instrument will be categorised as Level 3.

Financial instruments that are valued using quoted prices in active 
markets are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. 
These would include government and sovereign securities, listed 
equities and corporate debt securities which are actively traded. 
Derivatives contracts which are traded in an active exchange 
market are also classified as Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Where fair value is determined using quoted market prices in less 
active markets or quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities, 
such instruments are generally classified as Level 2. In cases where 
quoted prices are generally not available, the Group will determine 
the fair value based on valuation techniques that use market 
parameters as inputs including but not limited to yield curves, 
volatilities and foreign exchange rates. The majority of valuation 
techniques employ only observable market data and so reliability 
of the fair value measurement is high. These would include 
corporate debt securities, repurchase, reverse repurchase 
agreements and most of the Group’s over-the-counter derivatives.

The Group classifies financial instruments as Level 3 when there is 
reliance on unobservable market parameters whether used directly 
to value a financial asset or liability, or used as inputs to a valuation 
model, attributing to a significant contribution to the instrument 
value. These would include all input parameters which are derived 
from historical data, for example, asset correlations or certain 
volatilities. Level 3 instruments also include unquoted equity 
securities which are measured based on the net asset value of the 
investments.  In addition, Level 3 inputs include all stale quoted 
security prices and other approximations (e.g. bonds valued using 
credit default swap spreads).
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The following tables present assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value, classified by level within the fair value hierarchy:

In HK$ millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2023
Assets
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
– Government securities  

and treasury bills 2,950 – – 2,950
– Due from Banks – – – –
– Bank and corporate 

securities – 793 – 793
Fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
financial assets
– Government securities  

and treasury bills 50,460 – – 50,460
– Bank and corporate 

securities 8,143 3,295 364 11,802
Derivatives – 3,010 – 3,010

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss
– Payable in respect of short 

sale of securities 1,793 – – 1,793
– Deposits and balances 

from customers – 9,080 – 9,080
– Due to Banks – 2,733 – 2,733

Derivatives – 3,558 – 3,558 

2022
Assets
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
– Government securities  

and treasury bills 2,940 – – 2,940
– Due from Banks – – – –
– Bank and corporate 

securities – 794 – 794
Fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
financial assets
– Government securities  

and treasury bills 46,431 436 – 46,867
– Bank and corporate 

securities 11,355 2,368 317 14,040
Derivatives 22 3,025 – 3,047

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss
– Payable in respect of short 

sale of securities 2,037 – – 2,037
– Deposits and balances 

from customers – 8,986 – 8,986
– Due to Banks – 1,672 – 1,672

Derivatives – 5,290 – 5,290 

During the year, there was no transfer between fair value 
hierarchies (2022: Nil).

c.	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried 
at fair value

For financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value in the 
consolidated financial statements, the Group has ascertained that 
their fair values were not materially different from their carrying 
amounts at year end as shown below. The bases of arriving at 
their fair values are as follows:

(i)	 Due from banks

The estimated fair value of placements with and advances to banks 
is based on the discounted cash flows using the prevailing money 
market interest rates for placements and advances with similar 
remaining maturity. 

(ii)	 Loans and advances to customers

The fair value approximates their carrying amount as majority of 
the loans and advances to customers are on floating rate terms.

(iii)	Bank and corporate securities – loans and receivables

The fair values are determined based on independent market 
quotes, where available. Where market prices are not available, 
fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow method. The 
fair value is set out in Note 18.

(iv)	Due to banks and Deposits and balances from customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which 
includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable 
on demand. The estimated fair value of deposits and other 
borrowings with fixed interest rates is based on discounted cash 
flows using prevailing interest rates with similar remaining maturity.

(v)	 Certificates of deposit issued

The estimated fair value of certificates of deposit issued is based 
on discounted cash flows using the prevailing money market 
interest rates with similar remaining maturity.

(vi)	Subordinated liability

The fair value of subordinated liability approximates its carrying 
amount as it is on floating rate term and bears interest at 
prevailing.
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31	 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

a.	 Analysis of changes in financing activities during the 
year

Lease liabilities

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 
Balance as at 1 January 1,823 1,992

Interest element of lease liabilities 19 22

Cash outflow from financing activities (281) (287)
Net change due to addition and changes 

of lease term 229 96 
Balance as at 31 December 1,790 1,823
 

b.	 Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
  

Cash and balances with central banks 1,415 4,873

Due from banks

– Balances with banks 7,342 5,431
– Placements with and advances to 

banks repayable with original 
maturity within three months 67,043 74,454

Bills and notes repayable with original 
maturity within three months 12,067 12,380

Securities repayable with original  
maturity within three months – 312

 

87,867 97,450
 

32	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING 
ACTIVITIES

a.	 Derivatives
The Group uses financial derivatives to hedge the positions of the 
Group. It also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions 
in traded and over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to 
take advantage of short term market movements in bond price, 
currency and interest rate. The Group places trading limits on the 
level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and 
intra-day market positions. With the exception of specific hedging 
arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures 
associated with these derivatives are normally offset by entering into 
counterbalancing positions, thereby controlling the variability in the 
net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.

The following is a summary of each significant type of derivatives:

In HK$ millions

Contract/ 
notional 
amount

Positive 
fair  

values

Negative 
fair  

values
 

2023
Interest rate derivatives

– Interest rate swaps 76,073 849 2,663
– Interest rate futures – – –
– Interest rate options – – –

 

Sub-total 76,073 849 2,663
 

Foreign exchange (FX) derivatives

– FX contracts 88,798 640 516
– Currency swaps 18,005 1,329 186
– Currency options 42,935 149 150

 

Sub-total 149,738 2,118 852
 

Equity derivative contracts 1,444 40 40
Credit derivative contracts – – –
Commodity derivative contracts 172 3 3
 

Gross total derivatives 227,427 3,010 3,558
 

Included in the above are 
derivatives held for:
Cash flow hedges
– Interest rate swaps 30,600 – 1,882
– Currency swaps 9,387 1,207 65

 

Sub-total 39,987 1,207 1,947
 

Total derivatives held  
for hedging 39,987 1,207 1,947
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Cash flow hedge
The Group is predominantly exposed to variability in future cash 
flows due to interest rate movements and foreign currency 
fluctuations against HKD from the following:

–	 assets subject to repricing, reinvestment or refinancing risk;
–	 forecasted interest earnings denominated in foreign currency;
–	 issued floating or fixed rate foreign currency debt; and
–	 floating or fixed rate foreign currency bonds.

In accordance with the Group risk management strategy the Group 
enters into interest rate swaps, forward contracts or cross currency 
swaps to protect against the variability of cash flows due to 
changes in interest rates and/or foreign currency exchange rates. 
In such instances, cash flow hedge relationships are designated. 
These are applied on a hedge-by-hedge basis.

The Group manages all other risks derived by these exposures, 
such as credit risk, but they do not apply hedge accounting for 
these risks.

The Group has identified the following possible sources of 
ineffectiveness in its cash flow hedge relationships:

–	 The use of derivatives as a protection against currency and 
interest rate risk creates an exposure to the derivative 
counterparty’s credit risk which is not offset by the hedged 
item. This risk is minimised by entering into derivatives with 
high credit quality counterparties;

–	 Difference in tenor of hedged items and hedging instruments;
–	 Difference in timing of settlement of the hedging instrument 

and hedged item.
–	 Designation of off-market hedging instruments.

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the hedging 
instruments used in cash flow hedges. The amounts shown in the 
table reflect the notional amounts of derivatives. Refer to Note 
32(a) for the carrying values of the derivatives.

In HK$ millions
Less than 

1 year
1 to 5 
years

More than 
5 years Total

 

2023
Derivatives (notional)
Interest Rate Swaps 300 30,300 – 30,600
Currency swaps 395 5,870 3,122 9,387
 

2022
Derivatives (notional)
Interest Rate Swaps – 30,600 – 30,600

Currency swaps 78 6,260 3,101 9,439
 

In HK$ millions

Contract/ 
notional 
amount

Positive 
fair  

values

Negative 
fair  

values
 

2022
Interest rate derivatives

– Interest rate swaps 55,629 1,188 3,831

– Interest rate futures 10,527 22 –

– Interest rate options 1,560 21 21
 

Sub-total 67,716 1,231 3,852
 

Foreign exchange (FX) derivatives

– FX contracts 147,153 674 635

– Currency swaps 20,051 887 548

– Currency options 49,090 131 131
 

Sub-total 216,294 1,692 1,314
 

Equity derivative contracts 2,585 52 52

Credit derivative contracts 463 33 33

Commodity derivative contracts 1,744 39 39
 

Gross total derivatives 288,802 3,047 5,290
 

Included in the above are 
derivatives held for:
Cash flow hedges
– Interest rate swaps 30,600 – 2,772

– Currency swaps 9,439 731 392
 

Sub-total 40,039 731 3,164
 

Total derivatives held  
for hedging 40,039 731 3,164

 

The amounts are shown on a gross basis and do not take into 
account the effect of bilateral netting arrangements. The contract 
or notional amounts of these instruments indicate the volume of 
transactions outstanding as at the end of the reporting period; 
they do not represent amounts at risk.

b.	 Hedging derivatives
The accounting treatment of the hedge derivative transactions 
varies according to the nature of the hedge and whether the hedge 
meets the specified criteria to qualify for hedge accounting. 
Derivatives transacted as economic hedges but do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are treated in the same way as derivative 
instruments held for trading purposes.

c.	 Hedge accounting
The Group enters into hedging transactions to manage exposures 
to interest rate and foreign currency risks. Hedge accounting is 
applied to minimise volatility in earnings arising from changes in 
interest rate and foreign exchange rates.

Refer to Note 37 for more information on market risk and the 
Group’s risk management practices and Note 2(p) for the Group’s 
accounting policy for hedge accounting.
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The currency swaps have maturity dates that coincide within the 
expected occurrence of these transactions. The forecast 
transactions are expected to occur within seven years from the 
balance sheet date and are expected to affect income statements 
in the same period these cash flow occur.

The ineffectiveness arising from these hedges for 2023 and 2022  
were insignificant.

Refer to Note 28 for information on the cash flow hedge reserve.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
On 3 July 2023, the UK Financial Conduct Authority published a 
statement confirming that the USD London Interbank Offered Rate 
panel had ceased. The Group’s major interest rate benchmark 
exposures are USD SOFR and HKD Hong Kong Interbank Offered 
Rate (“HIBOR”). There is no plan for HIBOR to be discontinued.

33	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The following is a summary of the contractual amounts of each 
significant class of contingent liabilities and commitments:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Direct credit substitutes 151 195
Transaction-related contingencies 5,327 5,277
Trade-related contingencies 6,145 6,343
Other commitments with an original 

maturity of not more than one year 4,754 2,360
Other commitments with an original 

maturity of more than one year 25,718 26,031
Other commitments which are 

unconditionally cancellable 199,441 192,966
 

241,536 233,172
 

Credit risk-weighted amount 25,138 23,996
 

The information is prepared with reference to the Banking (Capital) 
Rules. For accounting purposes, acceptances are recognised on 
the statement of financial position in “Other assets” and “Other 
liabilities” in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. For 
the purpose of the Banking (Capital) Rules, acceptances are 
included in the capital adequacy calculation as if they were trade-
related contingencies. The contract amount of acceptances 
included in the table above was HK$690 million (2022: HK$1,037 
million).

Other than the claims with provisions recognised in other liabilities, 
the Group is currently involved in a few claims related to its normal 
commercial activities. It is not probable that a significant liability 
would arise from these claims for the year ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

34	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period but not yet incurred are as follows:

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Expenditure contracted but not  
provided for 97 33

Expenditure authorised but not 
contracted for 13 32

 

110 65
 

35	 SECURITIES PLEDGED or TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

The Group pledges or transfers financial assets to third parties or 
group companies in the ordinary course of business. Transferred 
assets continue to be recognized in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements when the Group retains substantially all their 
risks and rewards. Among these, as set out below, are securities 
pledged or transferred to secure the Group’s short position in 
securities or pursuant to the repurchase or securities lending 
agreement.

Securities transferred under repurchase and securities lending 
arrangements are generally conducted under terms in line with 
normal market practice. The counterparty is typically allowed to 
sell or re-pledge the securities but has an obligation to return them 
at maturity. If the securities decrease in value, the Group may, in 
certain circumstances, be required to place additional collateral.

For repurchase agreements, the securities pledged or transferred 
continue to be recorded on the balance sheet while cash received 
in exchange is recorded as a financial liability. The Group also 
pledges assets to secure its short position in securities and to 
facilitate settlement operations. The fair value of the associated 
liabilities approximates their carrying amount of HK$4,522 million 
(2022: HK$3,709 million), which are recorded under “Due to 
banks” and “Other liabilities” on the balance sheet.

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 

Assets pledged or transferred

– Government securities and treasury 
bills 4,506 3,728 

The assets pledged as security included financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss of HK$1,788 million (2022: HK$2,062 
million).

There were no securities lending transaction outstanding as at 31 
December 2023 and 2022.
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36	 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities are presented net when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and 
there is intention to settle them on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. As at 31 December 
2023, no financial assets and liabilities were offset on the 
statement of financial position (2022: Nil).

Financial assets and liabilities subject to netting agreements 
but not offset on the statement of financial position
The Group enters into master netting arrangements with 
counterparties where it is appropriate and feasible to do so to 
mitigate counterparty risk. The credit risk associated with 
favourable contracts is reduced by a master netting arrangement 
to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with 
the counterparty are settled on a net basis. Master netting 
arrangements do not result in an offset of financial assets and 
liabilities on the statement of financial position, as the legal right 
to set off the transactions is conditional upon default.

These agreements include derivative master agreements (including 
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master 
Agreement), global master repurchase agreements and global 
securities lending agreements. The collaterals received and pledged 
under these agreements are generally conducted under terms that 
are in accordance with normal market practice. The agreements 
may allow rehypothecation of collateral received and there may 
be ongoing margin requirements to mitigate counterparty risk.

The disclosures set out in the tables below pertain to financial 
assets and liabilities that are not offset in the Group’s statement 
of financial position but are subject to master netting arrangements 
or similar agreements that covers similar financial instruments. The 
disclosures enable the understanding of both the gross and net 
amounts, as well as provide additional information on how such 
credit risk is mitigated.

Related amounts not 
offset on statement of

financial position
 

In HK$ millions

Carrying 
amounts on 

statement 
of financial 

position

Financial 
instruments 

(including 
non-cash 

collateral)(a)

Cash 
collateral 
received / 

pledged
Net 

amounts(b)

 
Types of financial assets/
liabilities (A) (B) (C)

(D)= 
(A)-(B)-(C)

 

2023
Financial assets
Positive fair values for 

financial derivatives 3,010 1,464 1,238 308
Reverse repurchase 

agreements 54,521 54,521 – –
 

Total 57,531 55,985 1,238 308
 

Financial liabilities
Negative fair values for 

financial derivatives 3,558 1,464 – 2,094
Repurchase agreements 2,733 2,718 – 15
Payable in respect of 

short sale of securities 1,793 1,793 – –
 

Total 8,084 5,975 – 2,109
 

2022
Financial assets
Positive fair values for 

financial derivatives 3,047 1,729 893 425
Reverse repurchase 

agreements 50,194 49,860 – 334
 

Total 53,241 51,589 893 759
 

Financial liabilities
Negative fair values for 

financial derivatives 5,290 1,729 – 3,561

Repurchase agreements 1,672 1,666 – 6
Payable in respect of 

short sale of securities 2,037 2,037 – –
 

Total 8,999 5,432 – 3,567
 

(a)	 Amounts under “Financial instruments (including non-cash collateral)” 
represent the amounts of financial liabilities/assets position and other non-
cash collateral that are subject to netting agreement or similar arrangements, 
capped at the carrying amount of the financial instruments.  

(b)	 Net amounts represent
–	 Financial instruments that are not subject to netting agreement or similar 

arrangements; or
–	 Financial assets/liabilities that are subject to netting agreement or similar 

arrangements but the Group’s counterparty does not have equivalent 
financial liabilities/assets position with the Group to offset upon default.
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also uses a programme-based approach to achieve a balanced 
management of risks and rewards. Retail exposures are assessed 
using credit score models, credit bureau records, as well as internally 
and externally available customer behaviour records supplemented 
by our Risk Acceptance Criteria (RAC). Credit applications are 
proposed by the business units and applications outside the RAC 
are independently assessed by the credit risk managers.

Pre-settlement credit risk for traded products arising from a 
counterparty potentially defaulting on its obligations is quantified 
by evaluation of the marked-to-market value plus potential future 
exposure. This is included within the Group’s overall credit limits 
to counterparties for internal risk management.

The Group actively monitors and manages its exposure to 
counterparties for over-the-counter (OTC) derivative trades to 
protect its balance sheet in the event of a counterparty default. 
DBSH has processes in place to guide the handling of specific 
wrong-way risk transactions.

•	 Concentration Risk Management
The Group’s risk management processes aim to ensure that an 
acceptable level of risk diversification is maintained across the 
Group on an ongoing basis. Limits are established and regularly 
monitored in respect of country exposures and major industry 
groups, as well as for single counterparty exposures.

•	 Country Risk
Country risk refers to the risk of loss due to events in a specific 
country (or a group of countries). This includes political, exchange 
rate, economic, sovereign and transfer risks. The Group manages 
country risk through the requirements of DBSH’s CCRPs.

Transfer risk limits for individually reviewed countries are set based 
on country-specific strategic business considerations as well as the 
acceptable potential loss according to DBSH’s Risk Appetite.

•	 Environmental, Social and Governance Risk
Responsible financing, covering environmental, social and 
governance (ESG), remains a key focus area which impacts our 
financing, investing and risk management decisions across the 
DBSH. DBSH recognizes the material impact of our financing and 
investments on environment and communities and the key role 
financial institutions can play in assisting customers to manage ESG 
issues and transition to low carbon economy. DBSH’s net zero targets 
and increasing recognition of ESG risks reflects the Group’s efforts 
to decarbonize its portfolio and focus on long-term sustainable 
clients.

DBSH considers ESG risk management as critical to ensure a 
sustainable lending and investment portfolio. Following 
establishment of DBSH’s Board Sustainability Committee and 
incorporation of environmental risk considerations into the Group’s 
Risk Appetite statement in 2022, DBSH further enhanced the 
Group Responsible Financing Standard documents which provide 
the overarching approach to responsible financing and enhanced 

37	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk governance
Under the risk management approach, the Board of Directors, 
through the Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC), sets risk 
appetite, oversees the establishment of enterprise-wide risk 
management policies and processes, and establishes risk appetite 
limits to guide the risk-taking of the Group.

(a)	 Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the Group’s daily activities in various 
businesses. These activities include lending to retail, corporate and 
institutional customers. It includes both the risk of lending, 
pre-settlement and settlement risk of foreign exchange, derivatives 
and securities.

Credit Risk Management
The Group’s approach to credit risk management comprises the 
following building blocks:

•	 Policies
The dimensions of credit risk and the scope of its application are 
defined in DBSH’s Credit Risk Management Policy. Senior 
management sets the overall direction and policy for managing 
credit risk at the enterprise level.

DBSH’s Core Credit Risk Policies (CCRPs) established for Consumer 
Banking/Wealth Management and Institutional Banking set forth 
the principles by which the Group conducts its credit risk 
management and control activities. These policies, supplemented 
by a number of operational standards and guides, ensure 
consistency in identifying, assessing, underwriting, measuring, 
reporting and controlling credit risk across DBS, and provide 
guidance in the formulation of business-specific and/or location-
specific credit risk policies and standards.

The operational standards and guides are established to provide 
greater details on the implementation of the credit principles 
within DBSH’s CCRP and are adapted to reflect different credit 
environments and portfolio risk profiles.

•	 Risk Methodologies
Credit risk is managed by thoroughly understanding our wholesale 
customers – the businesses they are in, as well as the economies 
in which they operate. It is also managed through statistical models 
and data analytics for retail customers.

The assignment of credit risk ratings and setting of lending limits are 
integral parts of DBS’ credit risk management process, and we use 
an array of rating models for our wholesale and retail portfolios. Most 
of these models are built internally by DBSH using DBSH’s loss data. 

Wholesale borrowers are assessed individually and further reviewed 
and evaluated by experienced credit risk managers who consider 
the relevant credit risk factors in the final determination of the 
borrower’s risk. For some portfolios within the SME segment, DBS 
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assessment required when financing transactions with elevated 
ESG risks. The requirements of this Standard represent the 
minimum standards for DBSH, and it has also sought alignment, 
where possible, with international standards and best practices. 
Where significant ESG issues are identified, escalation is required 
to IBG Sustainability and Risk Management ESG teams in DBSH 
for further guidance prior to approval by the Credit Approving 
Authority.

•	 Credit Stress Testing
The Group performs various types of credit stress tests which are 
either driven by regulators or internal requirements and 
management. Credit stress tests are performed at the total 
portfolio or sub-portfolio level and are generally conducted to 
assess the impact of changing economic conditions on asset 
quality, earnings performance, capital adequacy and liquidity.

•	 Processes, Systems and Reports
The end-to-end credit process is continually being reviewed and 
improved through various front-to-back initiatives involving 
business, operations, risk management and other key stakeholders.

Non-performing assets
The Group’s credit facilities are classified as ”Performing assets” 
or ”Non-performing assets” in accordance with HKMA’s loan 
classification framework.

Refer to Note 2(h) for the Group’s accounting policies on the 
impairment of financial assets. In general, impairment allowance 
is made when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of the occurrence of loss events that will have an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows.

When required, the Group will take possession of collateral and 
dispose of them as soon as practicable. Realised proceeds are used 
to reduce the outstanding indebtedness.

Credit Risk Mitigants

•	 Collateral Received
Where possible, the Group takes collateral as a secondary source 
of repayment. This includes, but is not limited to, cash, marketable 
securities, real estate, trade receivables, inventory, equipment, and 
other physical and/or financial collateral. The Group may also take 
fixed and floating charges on the assets of borrowers.

Policies are in place to determine the eligibility of collateral for 
credit risk mitigation. Collateral is generally diversified and periodic 
valuations of collateral are required.

For derivatives, repurchase agreements (repo) and other repo-style 
transactions with financial market counterparties, collateral 
arrangements are typically covered under market-standard 
documentation, such as International Swaps & Derivatives 
Association (ISDA) Agreements and Master Repurchase 
Agreements. The collateral exchanged mitigates marked-to-market 

changes at a re-margining frequency that the Group and the 
counterparties have mutually agreed upon. This is governed by 
internal guidelines with respect to collateral eligibility. In the event 
of a default, the credit risk exposure is reduced by master-netting 
arrangements where the Group is allowed to offset what the 
Group owes a counterparty against what is due from that 
counterparty in a netting-eligible jurisdiction.

In times of difficulty, the Group will review the customer’s specific 
situation and circumstances to assist them in restructuring their 
financial obligations.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets recognised 
on the statement of financial position is the carrying amount. For 
contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the 
maximum amount the Group would have to pay if the instrument 
is called upon. For undrawn facilities, the maximum exposure to 
credit risk is the full amount of the undrawn credit facilities granted 
to customers. Refer to Note 33 for the contractual amounts of each 
significant class of contingent liabilities and commitments.

The Group’s exposures to credit risk, measured using the expected 
gross credit exposures that will arise upon a default of the end 
obligor are as shown in the unaudited disclosures required under 
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules.

Analysis of Collateral
Whilst the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying 
amount of the assets or, in the case of off-balance sheet instruments, 
the amount guaranteed, committed, accepted or endorsed, the likely 
exposure may be lower due to offsetting collateral, credit guarantees 
and other actions taken to mitigate the Group’s exposure.

The description of collateral for each class of financial asset is set 
out below:

Balances with central banks, government securities and treasury 
bills, due from banks and bank and corporate debt securities

Collateral is generally not sought for these assets.

Derivatives
The Group maintains collateral agreements and enters into master 
netting agreements with most of the counterparties for derivative 
transactions. The impact of netting arrangements recognised for 
the computation of capital adequacy ratio is shown in the unaudited 
disclosures required under the Banking (Disclosure) Rules.

Loans and advances to customers, contingent liabilities and 
commitments
Certain loans and advances to customers, contingent liabilities and 
commitments are typically collateralised to a substantial extent. In 
particular, residential mortgage exposures are generally fully secured 
by residential properties. Income-producing real estate, which is a 
sub-set of the Specialised Lending exposure, are fully secured by 
the underlying assets financed.
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In HK$ millions Pass
Special

mention Total 

2023
Manufacturing 26,570 430 27,000
Building and construction 87,412 1,032 88,444
Housing loans 24,873 100 24,973
General commerce 28,846 947 29,793
Transportation, storage and 

communication 22,689 103 22,792
Financial institutions, investments 

and holding companies 7,270 – 7,270
Professionals and private individuals 

(except housing loans) 35,203 187 35,390
Others 25,368 127 25,495
 

258,231 2,926 261,157 

2022
Manufacturing 29,367 353 29,720
Building and construction 89,968 410 90,378
Housing loans 25,966 44 26,010
General commerce 34,499 1,060 35,559
Transportation, storage and 

communication 23,868 504 24,372
Financial institutions, investments 

and holding companies 6,208 1 6,209
Professionals and private individuals 

(except housing loans) 36,883 573 37,456
Others 24,951 159 25,110
 

271,710 3,104 274,814 

(ii)	 Loans and advances to customers that were past due but not 
impaired

Past due but not impaired

In HK$ millions

Less
than 1 
month

1-2 
months

2-3 
months

More 
than 3 

months Total 

2023
Manufacturing 139 2 – – 141
Building and construction 346 31 – – 377
Housing loans 592 64 35 – 691
General commerce 112 47 1 9 169
Transportation, storage and 

communication 75 17 9 – 101
Professionals and private 

individuals (except housing 
loans) 224 41 2 – 267

Others 27 6 6 – 39
 

1,515 208 53 9 1,785 

The extent to which credit exposures are covered by eligible collateral 
under the Banking (Capital) Rules, besides real estate, after the 
application of the requisite regulatory hair-cuts, is shown in the 
unaudited disclosures required under the Banking (Disclosure) Rules. 
The amount shown is a sub-set of the actual collateral arrangements 
entered by the Group as the Banking (Capital) Rules imposes strict 
legal and operational standards before collateral can be admitted 
as credit risk mitigants. As a result, certain collateral arrangements 
which do not meet its criteria will not be included. Certain collateral 
types which are not permitted as credit risk mitigants for credit 
exposures under the Standardised Approach are also excluded. There 
are five broad classifications that describe the credit quality of the 
Group’s lending portfolio including “pass” and “special mention”. 
These classifications each encompass a range of more granular, 
internal credit rating grades. This mapping reference is reviewed on 
a regular basis. Please refer to Note 2(h) for details on impairment. 
Analysis of allowances for credit and other losses as at 31 December 
2023 and the movement during the year are disclosed in Note 10.

Loans and advances to customers by credit quality

In HK$ millions Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

2023
Neither past due nor impaired
– Pass 245,249 12,982 – 258,231
– Special Mention 300 2,626 – 2,926
Past due but not impaired(a) 1,266 519 – 1,785
Impaired 
– Substandard – – 644 644
– Doubtful – – 2,102 2,102
– Loss – – 192 192 

246,815 16,127 2,938 265,880 

2022
Neither past due nor impaired
– Pass 259,611 12,099 – 271,710
– Special Mention 960 2,144 – 3,104
Past due but not impaired(a) 1,229 133 – 1,362
Impaired 
– Substandard – – 964 964
– Doubtful – – 2,362 2,362
– Loss – – 158 158 

261,800 14,376 3,484 279,660 

(a)	 The majority of past due but not impaired assets are classified as “Pass” in 
2023 and 2022.

Impaired loans and advances to customers are individually assessed 
customer advances with objective evidence of impairment.

(i)	 Analysis of loans and advances to customers that were neither 
past due nor impaired by reference to the loan gradings under 
the HKMA guidelines
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Past due but not impaired

In HK$ millions

Less
than 1 
month

1-2 
months

2-3 
months

More 
than 3 

months Total 

2022
Manufacturing 54 – – – 54
Building and construction 145 16 5 – 166
Housing loans 648 37 7 – 692
General commerce 87 6 – – 93
Transportation, storage and 

communication 75 6 4 – 85
Professionals and private 

individuals (except housing 
loans) 175 24 1 – 200

Others 70 2 – – 72 

1,254 91 17 – 1,362 

Loans and advances to customers that were past due by more 
than 3 months represent individually insignificant advances which 
are subject to general allowances assessment.

(iii)	Impaired loans and advances to customers

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Manufacturing 255 348
Building and construction 738 558
Housing loans 137 57
General commerce 1,179 2,009
Transportation, storage and 

communication 133 119
Financial institutions, investments and 

holding companies – 6
Professionals and private individuals 

(except housing loans) 432 313
Others 64 74
 

2,938 3,484
 

HK$’ millions

% of gross Loans
and advances
to customers 

 

2023

Gross impaired advances 2,938 1.11
Specific allowances (1,240)
 

1,698
 

Impaired advances covered by 
collateral 1,357

 

2022
Gross impaired advances 3,484 1.25
Specific allowances (1,459)
 

2,025
 

Impaired advances covered by 
collateral 1,227

 

The specific allowances were made after taking into account the 
value of collateral in respect of the above advances.

Geographical concentration
The analysis of the Group’s gross advances to customers by 
geographical area is based on the location of the counterparty 
after taking into account the transfer of risk. In general, transfer 
of risk applies if the claim is guaranteed by a party in a country 
which is different from that of the counterparty.

In HK$ millions Loans

Trade
Finance 

(including 
trade bills) Total 

2023
Hong Kong 217,586 10,612 228,198
Mainland China 22,557 1,369 23,926
Others 7,869 5,887 13,756 

248,012 17,868 265,880 

2022
Hong Kong 226,514 14,066 240,580
Mainland China 22,690 3,296 25,986
Others 7,697 5,397 13,094 

256,901 22,759 279,660 

Analysis of impaired advances, impairment allowances for 
loans and trade finance which accounted for 10% or more 
of the Group’s gross advances to customers:

In HK$ millions

Impaired 
advances to 

customers
Specific 

allowances
General 

allowances 

2023
Hong Kong 2,499 999 1,979 

2022
Hong Kong 3,084 1,106 1,944 

(b)	 Market risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk is categorised into:

•	 Trading portfolios: Arising from positions taken for (i) market-
making (ii) client-facilitation and (iii) benefiting from market 
opportunities. 

•	 Non-trading portfolios: Arising from (i) positions taken to 
manage the interest rate risk of the Group’s retail and 
commercial banking assets  and liabilities (ii) debt securities 
comprising of investments held for yield and/or liquidity risk 
management (iii) strategic stakes in entities and (iv) structural 
foreign exchange risk arising mainly from the Group’s strategic 
investments which are denominated in currencies other than 
Hong Kong dollar. 
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Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) arises from 
mismatches in the interest rate profiles of assets, liabilities and 
capital instruments. The Group identifies, measures and manages 
IRRRB from both economic value and earning perspectives using 
Economic Value of Equity (EVE) and Net Interest Income (NII) 
variability as the respective key risk metrics. Both NII and EVE are 
calculated under various interest rate scenarios that assess 
vulnerabilities in the Group’s business model and key behavioural 
assumptions, including internally selected interest rate shock 
scenarios addressing the Group’s profile, as well as historical and 
hypothetical interest rate stress scenarios.

•	 Processes, Systems and Reports
Robust internal control processes and systems have been designed 
and implemented to support the Group’s approach for market risk 
management. The Group reviews these control processes and 
systems regularly, and these reviews allow senior management to 
assess their effectiveness.

The day-to-day market risk monitoring, control and analysis is 
managed by the RMG Market and Liquidity Risk unit – an 
independent risk management function that reports to the Senior 
Risk Executive. DBS Bank Ltd provides RMG Market and Liquidity 
Risk with model analytics, risk infrastructure and risk report 
production support.

Market Risk Metrics
The trading portfolio ES is tabulated below, showing the period-
end, average, high and low ES.

1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
 

As at  
31 December 2023In HK$ millions Average High Low 

Total 4.6 4.9 6.2 3.9
 

1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
 

As at  
31 December 2022In HK$ millions Average High Low 

Total 3.9 4.3 6.6 3.3 

Note:	 ES is computed in Singapore dollars and translated into Hong Kong dollars 
using the prevailing exchange rates on the reporting dates for presentation 
purpose.

 
Trading portfolios’ average daily ES increased by HK$0.6 million, 
contributed largely by increase in interest rate risk exposures.

Trading portfolio experienced 4 backtesting exceptions in 2023 
which occurred in January, March and May respectively (2022: 7 
backtesting exceptions which occurred in April, October, November 
and December respectively). The backtesting exceptions were 
largely due to swings in HKD interest rates. 

The key market risk drivers of the Group’s non-trading portfolios 
are HKD and USD interest rate exposures. The Net Interest Income 
(NII) of the Group is assessed under various rate scenarios to 
determine the impact of interest rate movements on future 

The Group uses a variety of financial derivatives such as swaps, 
forwards and futures, and options for trading and hedging against 
market movements.

Market Risk Management
The Group’s approach to market risk management comprises the 
following building blocks:

•	 Policies
The Group Market Risk Management Policy sets out the Group’s 
overall approach towards market risk management. The Policy is 
supported by standards and guides, which facilitates the 
identification, measurement, control, monitoring and reporting of 
market risk in a consistent manner within the Group. They also 
set out the overall approach, requirements and controls governing 
market risk stress testing across the Group.

The criteria for determining the positions to be included in the 
trading book are stipulated in the Trading Book Policy Statement.

•	 Risk Methodologies
The Group utilises Value-at-Risk (VaR), a statistical risk measure, to 
estimate the potential loss from market movements. This measure 
uses historical simulation based on data for the previous 12 months. 
It assumes that historical changes in market values reflect the 
distribution of potential outcomes in the immediate future.

The Group limits and monitors market risk exposures using 
Expected Shortfall (ES). ES is estimated by averaging the portfolio’s 
potential losses beyond the 97.5% confidence interval, under 
normal market conditions and over a one-day holding period. ES 
is supplemented by other risk control metrics such as sensitivities 
to risk factors and loss triggers for management action.

The Group conducts backtesting to verify the predictiveness of the 
VaR model. Backtesting compares VaR calculated for positions at 
the close of each business day with the profit and loss (P&L) that 
arises from those positions on the following business day. The 
backtesting P&L excludes fees and commissions, revenues from 
intra-day trading, non-daily valuation adjustments and time effects.

For backtesting, VaR at the 99% confidence interval and over a 
one-day holding period is used. The Group adopts the standardized 
approach to compute market risk regulatory capital for the trading 
book positions. As such, VaR backtesting does not impact our 
regulatory capital for market risk.

There are limitations to VaR models; for example, past changes in 
market risk factors may not provide accurate predictions of future 
market movements, and the risk arising from adverse market 
related events may be understated.

To monitor our vulnerability to unexpected but plausible extreme 
market risk related events, multiple market risk stress tests are 
conducted regularly. These cover trading and non-trading 
portfolios and follow a combination of historical and hypothetical 
scenarios depicting risk-factor movement. 
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The Policy is supported by Standards that establish the detailed 
requirements for liquidity risk identification, measurement, 
reporting and control within the Group. The set of policies, 
standards and supporting guides communicate these baseline 
requirements to ensure consistent application throughout the 
Group.

•	 Risk Methodologies
The primary measure used to manage liquidity within the tolerance 
defined by the Board is the cash flow maturity mismatch analysis. 
This form of analysis is performed on a regular basis under normal 
and adverse scenarios. It assesses the adequacy of the 
counterbalancing capacity to fund or mitigate any cash flow 
shortfalls that may occur as forecasted in the cash flow movements 
across successive time bands. To ensure that liquidity is managed 
in line with the Risk Appetite, core parameters such as the types 
of scenarios, the survival period and the minimum level of liquid 
assets, are pre-specified for monitoring and control at the Group. 
Any occurrences of forecasted shortfalls that cannot be covered 
by the counterbalancing capacity will be escalated to the relevant 
committees for evaluation and action.

Liquidity risk testing is performed regularly using cash flow maturity 
mismatch analysis, and covers adverse scenarios including general 
market and idiosyncratic stress scenarios. Stress tests assess the 
Group’s vulnerability when liability run-offs increase, asset rollovers 
increase and / or liquid assets buffer reduces. In addition, ad-hoc 
stress tests are performed as part of the Group’s internal capital 
adequacy assessment process.

Liquidity risk control measures, such as liquidity-related ratios and 
balance sheet analysis are complementary tools to the cash flow 
maturity mismatch analysis, and they are performed regularly to 
obtain deeper insights and finer control over the liquidity profile 
across the Group. The liquidity risk control measures also include 
loan to deposit ratio, concentration measures on top depositors, 
wholesale borrowing ratios and swapped funds positions.

•	 Processes, Systems and Reports
Robust internal control processes and systems support our overall 
approach for identifying, measuring, aggregating, controlling and 
monitoring liquidity risk across the Group.

Continuous improvement in data and reporting platforms has 
allowed most elements of internal liquidity risk reporting to be 
centralised.

The day-to-day liquidity risk monitoring, control, reporting and 
analysis are managed by the RMG Market and Liquidity Risk unit – 
an independent risk management function that reports to the 
Senior Risk Executive.

Liquidity Management and Funding Strategy
The Group strives to develop a diversified funding base with access 
to funding sources across retail and wholesale channels. In particular, 
the Group has continuously made inroads in growing, deepening 
and diversifying its deposit base, spanning retail, wealth 
management, corporate and institutional customers across markets 
that it operates in. Supplementing the deposit base, the Group 
continues to maintain access to wholesale channels, to support the 
growth of its investor base, as well as to increase flexibility and 
manage funding cost in capitalising on business opportunities.

earnings. Simulation using a 100 basis points parallel upward or 
downward shift in yield curves on the Group’s banking book 
exposures. NII is estimated to increase by HK$794 million and 
decrease by HK$925 million respectively.

Equity price risk arises from the Group’s strategic investments 
which are overseen by the Hong Kong Management Committee. 
The Group’s equity exposures booked in its banking book portfolio 
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were not material and were 
held for long term investment purpose. They were reported as 
bank and corporate securities in Note 18 to the consolidated 
financial statements and are subject to the accounting and 
valuation policies set out in Notes 2(f) and 2(h) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(c)	 Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk arises from its obligations to honour 
withdrawals of deposits, repayments of borrowed funds at 
maturity, and commitments to extend loans to our customers.

The Group seeks to manage its liquidity in a manner that ensures 
that its liquidity obligations would continue to be honoured under 
normal as well as adverse circumstances.

Liquidity Risk Management
In deploying the funds, the Group aims to predominantly fund its 
lending activities via customer deposits and borrowings. In the 
event where market conditions lead to insufficient or prohibitively 
expensive customer funding, flexibility is maintained to fund 
lending growth with duration matched wholesale funding. With 
increasing diversification of funding sources, optimising the 
mismatch in fund deployments against sources with respect to 
pricing, size, currency and tenor remains challenging. To this end, 
where practicable and transferable without loss in value, the Group 
makes appropriate use of swap markets for relevant currencies, 
commensurate with the liquidity of each, in the conversion and 
deployment of surplus funds.

The Assets and Liabilities Committee regularly reviews the 
composition and growth trajectories of the balance sheet and 
refine our funding strategy according to business momentum, 
competitive factors and prevailing market conditions.

Approach to Liquidity Risk Management
The Group’s approach to liquidity risk management comprises the 
following building blocks:

•	 Policies
The Group Liquidity Risk Management Policy sets out the Group’s 
overall approach towards liquidity risk management and describes 
the range of strategies employed by the Group to manage its 
liquidity. These strategies include maintaining an adequate 
counterbalancing capacity to address potential cash flow shortfalls 
and having diversified sources of liquidity. The Group’s 
counterbalancing capacity includes liquid assets and the capacity 
to borrow from the money markets as well as forms of managerial 
interventions that improve liquidity. In the event of a potential or 
actual crisis, the Group has in place a set of liquidity contingency 
and recovery plans to ensure that we maintain adequate liquidity.
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Liquidity Risk Metrics

The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December based on the remaining period as at the end of the 
reporting period to the contractual maturity dates:

In HK$ millions

Repayable 
on 

demand
Less than
1 month

3 months 
or less

but over  
1 month

1 year  
or less  

but over  
3 months

5 years  
or less  

but over
1 year

After  
5 years Undated Total

 

2023
Assets 

–	Cash and balances with central banks 1,381 – – – – – 34 1,415
–	Government securities and treasury bills, 

classified as

–	FVPL – 299 87 1,709 147 708 – 2,950
–	FVOCI – 9,081 21,552 13,647 2,974 3,206 – 50,460
–	Amortised cost – 494 – 313 6,608 2,752 – 10,167

–	Due from banks 7,342 67,060 6,989 15,622 5,234 – – 102,247
–	Bank and corporate securities

–	Debt securities classified as FVPL – – – – 11 782 – 793
–	Debt securities classified as FVOCI – 296 386 2,626 7,971 159 – 11,438
–	Debt securities classified as amortised 

cost – – – – 3,818 5,756 – 9,574
–	Equity securities – – – – – – 364 364

–	Loans and advances to customers 5,579 73,181 23,165 45,371 84,011 29,586 1,698 262,591
–	Others 68 8,901 803 381 462 1,535 3,472 15,622

 

Total assets 14,370 159,312 52,982 79,669 111,236 44,484 5,568 467,621
 

Liabilities 
–	Due to banks 2,161 6,391 8 – – – – 8,560
–	Deposits and balances from customers 190,128 78,203 63,751 58,316 201 – – 390,599
–	Certificates of deposit issued – – – – – – – –
–	Subordinated liability – – – – 2,343 – – 2,343
–	Lease liabilities 22 1 45 194 867 661 – 1,790
–	Others 4,277 6,084 1,452 2,531 969 585 1,703 17,601

 

Total liabilities 196,588 90,679 65,256 61,041 4,380 1,246 1,703 420,893
 



P47	 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

In HK$ millions

Repayable 
on 

demand
Less than
1 month

3 months 
or less

but over  
1 month

1 year  
or less  

but over  
3 months

5 years  
or less  

but over
1 year

After  
5 years Undated Total

 

2022
Assets 

–	Cash and balances with central banks 4,835 – – – – – 38 4,873
–	Government securities and treasury bills, 

classified as

–	FVPL – – 1,486 350 452 652 – 2,940

–	FVOCI – 5,123 10,970 13,117 14,462 3,195 – 46,867

–	Amortised cost – – – – 5,426 4,850 – 10,276

–	Due from banks 5,431 72,720 4,633 8,308 7,797 – – 98,889

–	Bank and corporate securities

–	Debt securities classified as FVPL – – – – 11 783 – 794

–	Debt securities classified as FVOCI – 312 676 2,404 10,178 153 – 13,723
–	Debt securities classified as amortised 

cost – – – 23 3,768 4,910 – 8,701

–	Equity securities – – – – – – 317 317

–	Loans and advances to customers 7,279 77,717 22,832 34,510 99,994 31,839 2,025 276,196

–	Others 128 5,352 763 256 525 1,524 3,751 12,299
 

Total assets 17,673 161,224 41,360 58,968 142,613 47,906 6,131 475,875
 

Liabilities 
–	Due to banks 2,109 7,630 1,054 – – – – 10,793

–	Deposits and balances from customers 225,048 65,651 60,114 43,238 309 – – 394,360

–	Certificates of deposit issued – – 791 2,314 – – – 3,105

–	Subordinated liability – – – – 2,339 – – 2,339

–	Lease liabilities 21 – 43 189 836 734 – 1,823

–	Others 2,801 9,782 2,101 1,208 966 747 2,407 20,012
 

Total liabilities 229,979 83,063 64,103 46,949 4,450 1,481 2,407 432,432
 

The above tables indicate disclosure of contractual maturity of financial liabilities, which approximate the same analysis on an undiscounted 
basis as total future interest payments are not material relative to the principal amounts. Derivative assets and liabilities are included in 
“less than 1 month” bucket as they are mainly held for trading.

The table below shows the contractual undiscounted cash flows for derivatives, contingent liabilities and commitments.

In HK$ millions
Repayable

on demand
3 months

or less

1 year
or less

but over
3 months

5 years
or less

but over
1 year

After
5 years Total

 

2023
Derivatives settled on a net basis – (309) (689) (867) 44 (1,821)
Derivatives settled on a gross basis

– Inflow – 96,295 11,507 13,513 3,233 124,548
– Outflow – (96,085) (11,262) (12,142) (2,538) (122,027)

 

Contingent liabilities and commitments
– Contingent liabilities – 11,623 – – – 11,623
– Commitments 78,645 151,268 – – – 229,913

 

78,645 162,891 – – – 241,536
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(d)	 Operational and technology risk
Operational risk is inherent in our business activities and may arise 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems, or 
from external events. The Group’s objective is to keep operational 
risk at appropriate levels, taking into account the markets the Bank 
operates in, the characteristics of the businesses as well as our 
economic and regulatory environment.

Operational Risk Management
The Group’s approach to operational risk management comprises 
the following building blocks:

•	 Policies
The Group Operational Risk Management (“ORM”) Policy sets our 
overall approach for managing operational risk in a structured, 
systematic and consistent manner.

There are policies, standards, tools and programmes in place to 
govern ORM practices across the Group. These include corporate 
operational risk policies and standards that are owned by the 
respective corporate oversight and control functions. The key 
policies address risk areas relating to technology, compliance, 
fraud, money laundering, financing of terrorism and sanctions, 
new product, outsourcing and ecosystem partnership.

•	 Risk Methodologies
The Group adopts the standardised approach to compute 
operational risk regulatory capital.

To manage and control operational risk, we use various tools 
including risk and control self-assessment, operational risk event 
management and key risk indicator monitoring.

The Group’s three lines of defence adopt one common risk 
taxonomy, and a consistent risk assessment approach to managing 
operational risk. Risk and control self-assessment is conducted by 
each business or support unit to identify key operational risk and 
assess the effectiveness of internal controls. When control issues 
are identified, the units develop action plans and track the 
resolution of the issues.

In HK$ millions
Repayable

on demand
3 months

or less

1 year
or less

but over
3 months

5 years
or less

but over
1 year

After
5 years Total

 

2022
Derivatives settled on a net basis – (277) (678) (1,874) 65 (2,764)
Derivatives settled on a gross basis

– Inflow – 127,246 65,332 28,908 3,275 224,761
– Outflow – (126,932) (65,277) (27,655) (2,768) (222,632)

 

Contingent liabilities and commitments
– Contingent liabilities – 11,815 – – – 11,815
– Commitments 77,789 143,568 – – – 221,357

 

77,789 155,383 – – – 233,172
 

The Group actively monitors and manages its liquidity profile based 
on the cash flow maturity mismatch analysis.

In forecasting the cash flow under the analysis, behavioural 
profiling is necessary in cases where a product has indeterminate 
maturity or the contractual maturity does not realistically reflect 
the expected cash flow. Two examples are maturity-indeterminate 
savings and current account deposits which are generally viewed 
as  sources of stable funding for commercial banks. In fact, they 
consistently exhibit stability even under historic periods of stress.

A conservative view is adopted in the Group’s behavioural profiling 
of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet commitments that have 
exhibited cash flow patterns that differ significantly from the 
contractual maturity profile shown in this note.

The table below shows the Group’s behavioural net and cumulative 
maturity mismatch between assets and liabilities over a one-year 
period in normal scenario without incorporating growth 
projections. The Group’s liquidity is observed to remain adequate 
under the maturity mismatch analysis, amidst funding surplus from 
loans and deposits movement was deployed to interbank lending.

In HK$ millions (i)

Less than 
7 days

1 week to 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 12 
months

 

2023
Net liquidity mismatch 51,834 1,476 (12,472) 58,872
Cumulative mismatch 51,834 53,310 40,838 99,710
 

2022(ii)

Net liquidity mismatch 74,115 (11,122) (28,371) 26,715

Cumulative mismatch 74,115 62,993 34,622 61,337
 

(i)	 Positive indicates a position of liquidity surplus. Negative indicates a liquidity 
shortfall that has to be funded. The Group’s liquidity is monitored on a 
cumulative mismatch basis.

(ii)	 As the behavioural assumptions used to determine the maturity mismatch 
between assets and liabilities are updated from time to time, the information 
presented above may not be directly comparable across past balance sheet 
dates.
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Fraud risk
The Group has established minimum standards for our business and 
support units to prevent, detect, investigate and remediate fraud 
and related events. This is based on the Fraud Management 
Programme, through which standards are implemented at the unit 
and geographical levels. These standards aim to provide end-to-end 
management for fraud and related issues within the Group.

Money laundering, financing of terrorism and sanctions risks
There are minimum standards for our business and support units 
to mitigate and manage our actual and/or potential exposure to 
money laundering, terrorist financing, sanctions, corruption, or 
other illicit financial activities. Accountabilities have also been 
established for the protection of the Group’s assets and reputation, 
as well as the interests of our customers and shareholders.

New product and outsourcing and ecosystem partnership 
risks
Each new product, service or outsourcing arrangement or ecosystem 
partnership is subject to a risk review and sign-off process, where 
relevant risks are identified and assessed. Variations of existing products 
or services and existing outsourcing arrangements and ecosystem 
partnerships are also subject to a similar process.

Other mitigation programmes
A business continuity management programme is in place to 
ensure that essential banking services can continue in the event 
of unforeseen events or business disruptions. This includes a crisis 
management plan to enable quick response to manage incidents.

Exercises are conducted annually, simulating different scenarios to 
test business continuity plans and crisis management protocol. 
The effectiveness of these exercises, as well as the Group’s business 
continuity readiness are communicated and attested by senior 
management to the BRMC on an annual basis. The Group 
continues to explore opportunities to enhance business resilience, 
drawing from lessons learned from past incidents.

To mitigate losses from specific risk events which are unexpected 
and significant, the Group purchases group-wide insurance policies 
–  under the Group Insurance Programme. These include policies 
relating to crime and professional indemnity, directors and officers 
liability, cyber risk, property damage and business interruption, 
general liability, and terrorism.

•	 Processes, systems and reports
Robust internal control processes and systems are integral to 
identifying, monitoring, managing and reporting operational risk.

All units are responsible for the day–to–day management of 
operational risk in their products, processes, systems and activities, 
in accordance with the various frameworks and policies. The RMG 
Operational Risk unit and other corporate oversight and control 
functions:

–	 Oversee and monitor the effectiveness of operational risk 
management,

Operational risk events are classified in accordance with Basel 
standards. Such events, including any significant incidents that 
may impact the Group’s reputation, must be reported based on 
certain established thresholds. Key risk indicators with pre-defined 
escalation triggers are employed to facilitate risk monitoring in a 
forward-looking manner.

Additional methodologies are in place to address subject-specific 
risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

Technology risk
Information Technology (IT) risk is managed through an enterprise 
technology risk approach. This covers risk identification, 
assessment, mitigation, monitoring and reporting. In addition, the 
appropriate governance, IT policies and standards, control 
processes and risk mitigation programmes are in place to support 
the risk management approach. Technology risk capabilities will 
be uplifted to support the Technology Risk Management Uplift 
program in:

(a)	 the implementation of the risk appetite;
(b)	 improve risk management and governance;
(c)	 enhance the resiliency and reliability of technology infrastructure 

and systems;
(d)	 increase the depth of objective independent challenge during 

incident recovery and incident root causes analysis; and
(e)	 accelerate and uplift technology risk awareness.

Similarly, cybersecurity risk is managed through the same enterprise 
risk management approach. It cuts across all lines of business, and it 
takes a collective team effort to proactively address cybersecurity 
threats. Since January 2019, we have established a one stop 
competency centre for all cybersecurity related matters and drive deep 
collaboration with the management of many other types of risks 
including operational risks and data protection/data privacy risks.

Compliance risk
Compliance risk refers to the risk of the Group not being able to 
successfully conduct our business because of any failure to comply 
with laws, regulatory requirements, industry codes or standards 
of business and professional conduct applicable to the financial 
sector.

This includes, in particular, laws and regulations applicable to the 
licensing and conducting of banking or other financial businesses, 
financial crime such as anti-money laundering and countering the 
financing of terrorism, fraud and bribery/corruption. We maintain 
a compliance programme designed to identify, assess, measure, 
mitigate and report on such risks through a combination of policy 
and relevant systems and controls.

The Group also provides relevant training and implements 
assurance processes. We strongly believe in the need to promote 
a strong compliance culture as well, and this is developed through 
the leadership of our Board and senior management.
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–	 Assess key operational risk issues with the units,
–	 Report and/or escalate key operational risks to risk committees 

with recommendations on appropriate risk mitigation strategies.

The Group has in place an integrated governance, risk and 
compliance system with aligned risk assessment methodology, 
common taxonomy, and unified processes for the three lines of 
defence.

The Group has in place an operational risk landscape profile which 
provides the Board and senior management with an integrated 
view of the operational risk profile periodically, across key 
operational risk areas and business lines.

(e)	 Capital management
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for setting our 
capital management objective, which is to maintain a strong capital 
position consistent with requirements of the Hong Kong Monetary 
Authority (“HKMA”) and the expectations of various stakeholders 
including customers, investors and rating agencies. The Board 
articulates this objective in the form of capital targets. This 
objective is pursued while delivering returns to shareholders and 
ensuring that adequate capital resources are available for business 
growth and adverse situations, taking into consideration our 
strategic plans and risk appetite.

The Banking Ordinance and the Banking (Capital) Rules set out 
the minimum capital adequacy ratios and leverage ratio for an 
authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong and the 
methodology for calculating these ratios. The Bank is required to 
compute its capital adequacy ratios and leverage ratio on a 
combined basis that includes the Bank and its overseas branch.

The Bank complied with the capital adequacy requirements of the 
HKMA throughout 2023 and 2022.

38	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 Holding companies and fellow subsidiaries
The Group’s immediate holding company is DBS Diamond Holdings 
Ltd. and the ultimate holding company is DBSH. DBS Bank Ltd. is 
an intermediate holding company of the Group.

As part of the Group’s normal course of business, it enters into 
various transactions with holding companies and fellow 
subsidiaries on normal commercial terms. These transactions 
include interbank placements, sales and purchase of loans and 
advances to customers, taking of deposits, financial derivatives, 
contingent liabilities and commitments.

The Group has policies on credit processing for its affiliates, as 
well as transactions with its affiliates and related parties.  Affiliate-
related transactions must be conducted on an arm’s length basis 
using credit standards, terms and conditions that are comparable 
to similar transactions with non-affiliates.

During the financial year, the Group acquired a portfolio of loans 
and advances to customers of HK$12.2 billion (2022: HK$52.5 
billion) and undrawn commitment of HK$1.0 billion (2022: HK$8.8 
billion) from DBS Bank Ltd., HK Branch through direct purchase 
or funded risk participation. These transactions were conducted 
on an arm’s length basis.

Information relating to income and expenses from these 
transactions during the year and balances outstanding as at 31 
December are set out below:
 
(i)	 Income and expenses with holding companies and fellow 

subsidiaries

DBS Group 
Holdings Ltd DBS Bank Ltd

Fellow 
subsidiaries

In HK$ millions 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
 

Interest income – – 3,244 1,648 33 35
Interest expense (164) (137) (187) (29) (6) (2)
Net fee and commission 

income/(expense) – – 530 392 (12) (16)
Net trading profit/(loss) – – 588 (2,232) (26) (23)
Other income – – 43 44 8 8
Total expenses 

(charged)/recovered – – (25) 55 53 53
 

(ii)	 Balances with DBS Bank Ltd as at 31 December

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Assets
Due from banks 91,136 82,312
Derivatives 1,380 1,484
Other assets 858 643
 

93,374 84,439
 

Liabilities
Due to banks 5,670 8,640
Derivatives 3,093 4,763
Other liabilities 300 136
 

9,063 13,539
 

(iii)	Contract / notional amounts of financial derivatives with DBS 
Bank Ltd and fellow subsidiaries as at 31 December

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Foreign exchange (FX) derivatives 114,808 172,113
Interest rate derivatives 72,515 51,203
Equity derivative contracts 722 1,293
Credit derivative contracts – 234
Commodity derivative contracts 86 912 

188,131 225,755 
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(iv)	Contingent liabilities and commitments with DBS Bank Ltd and 
fellow subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2023, total contingent liabilities and 
commitments with DBS Bank Ltd and fellow subsidiaries amounted 
to HK$712 million (2022: HK$2,401 million).

(v)	 Balances with DBS Group Holdings Ltd as at 31 December

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Liabilities
Subordinated liability 2,343 2,339

Other liabilities 14 12 
2,357 2,351 

(vi)	 Balances with fellow subsidiaries as at 31 December

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Assets
Due from banks 149 102

Bank and corporate securities 1,450 673

Derivatives 13 13

Other assets 180 158 
1,792 946 

Liabilities
Due to banks 161 167

Deposits and balances from customers 366 502

Derivatives 136 35

Other liabilities 155 125 

818 829 

(b)	 Directors and key management personnel

(i)	 Transactions and balances with directors and key management 
personnel

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had 
banking and non-banking transactions with directors of the Bank 
and DBSH Group and key management personnel of the Bank 
and their close family members. These transactions, including the 
taking of deposit and extension of credit card and other loan 
facilities, were made in the ordinary course of business and on 
commercial terms, and were not material.

(ii)	 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

In HK$ millions 2023 2022
 

Salaries, other short term employee 
benefits and directors’ fee (Note) 93 91

Pension 3 3

Share-based compensation 25 27
 

121 121
 

Note:
The directors’ fees if any, are payable in 2024 to eligible persons who acted as 
directors of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2023. Such fees are 
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Bank.

The amount included cash bonus accrued during the year, to be paid in the 
following year. Such cash bonus is subject to the approval of DBSH’s Board of 
Directors.

39	 LOAN TO DIRECTOR AND ENTITY CONNECTED WITH 
DIRECTOR

No material loan to director of the Bank and entity connected with 
director subsisted during the year.

40	 SHARE BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

As part of the Group’s remuneration policy, the Group provides 
various share-based compensation plans to foster a culture that 
aligns employees’ interests with shareholders’, enable employees 
to share in the Bank’s performance and enhance talent retention.

Main Scheme/ Plan

DBSH Share Plan (Share Plan)
•	 The Share Plan is granted to Group executives as determined 

by the Committee appointed to administer the Share Plan from 
time to time.

•	 Participants are awarded shares of the Company or, at the 
Committee’s discretion, their equivalent cash value or a 
combination.

•	 The Directors reviewed the changes to vesting schedule and 
retention award percentage on 5 December 2022. The new 
vesting tenor and retention award percentage applies to the 
shares granted from 2023. There are no changes to the vesting 
tenor and retention award percentage for the shares granted 
in earlier periods.

•	 Awards consist of main award and retention award (15%-20% 
of main award) for employees on bonus/sales incentive plans. 
Dividends on unvested shares do not accrue to employees.

•	 For employees on bonus plan and key employees who are also 
awarded shares as part of talent retention, the main award 
granted prior to February 2023 vests from 2 to 4 years after 
grant, i.e. 33% will vest 2 years after grant; another 33% will 
vest on the third year and the remaining 34% plus the retention 
award will vest 4 years after grant. The main award granted 
from February 2023 vests from 1 to 4 years after grant i.e. 
25% will vest each year. The retention award will vest 4 years 
after grant.
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•	 For employees on sales incentives plans, the main award vests 
from 1 to 3 years after grant; i.e. 33% will vest 1 year after 
grant, another 33% will vest on the second year and the 
remaining 34% plus the retention award will vest 3 years after 
grant.

•	 Special award is also granted as part of talent retention for 
selected individuals. There are no additional retention awards 
for such shares granted. Special awards granted prior to 
February 2023 vest from 2 to 4 years after grant, i.e. 33% will 
vest 2 years after grant; another 33% will vest on the third 
year and the remaining 34% will vest 4 years after grant. 
Special awards granted from February 2023 vest from 1 to 3 
years after grant i.e. 33% will vest 1 year after grant, another 
33% will vest on the second year and the remaining 34% will 
vest 3 years after grant.

•	 All awards will lapse immediately upon termination of 
employment, except in the event of ill health, injury, disability, 
redundancy, retirement or death.

•	 The market price of shares on the grant date is used to estimate 
the fair value of the shares awarded.

•	 Vested and unvested shares are subject to clawback/malus. 
Conditions that trigger such clawback/malus are in the 
Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report.

•	 Shares are awarded to non-executive directors as part of 
director’s remuneration. Details of these awards are disclosed 
in the Corporate Governance section of DBSH’s Annual Report.

DBSH Employee Share Plan (ESP)
•	 The Committee has ceased granting shares under the ESP 

effective from financial year 2018 remuneration. All outstanding 
ESP share grants were fully vested in 2022.

DBSH Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP)
•	 The ESPP was implemented in 2019. Al l conf i rmed 

permanent employees who hold the rank of Vice President 
or below with at least 3 months of service are eligible to 
participate in the scheme.

•	 The ESPP is a savings-based share ownership plan to help 
eligible employees to own DBSH shares through monthly 
contributions via deductions from payroll or designated bank 
accounts.

•	 Participants contribute up to 10% of monthly salary 
(minimum S$50, capped at S$1,000) and the Group will 
match 25% of the participant’s contributions to buy DBSH 
ordinary shares for a period of 12 months during each plan 
year.

•	 The matching shares bought from the Group’s contribution 
will vest 24 months after the last contribution month for 
each plan year.

•	 The matching shares will lapse immediately upon termination 
of employment, except in the event of ill health, injury, 
disability, redundancy, retirement or death.

The following table sets out the outstanding awards at the end 
of each reporting period and the movement during the year:

Number of shares Share Plan ESP ESPP 

At 1 January 2023 1,471,893 – 167,626
Granted 555,349 – 77,855
Transfer (92,558) – (221)
Vested (501,717) – (67,003)
Forfeited (59,471) – (10,879) 

At 31 December 2023 1,373,496 – 167,378 

Weighted average fair value 
of the shares granted 
during the year(a) SG$29.77 – SG$28.06 

At 1 January 2022 1,583,474 25,338 178,112
Granted 496,839 – 63,601
Transfer (6,555) (123) 303
Vested (473,168) (25,215) (58,222)
Forfeited (128,697) – (16,168) 

At 31 December 2022 1,471,893 – 167,626 

Weighted average fair value 
of the shares granted 
during the year(a) SG$32.35 – SG$29.38 

Since the inception of the Share Plan and ESP, no awards have been cash-settled.

(a)	The fair value of the shares granted in 2023 and 2022 includes a deduction 
of the present value of future expected dividends to be paid during the vesting 
period
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41	 BANK LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 As at 31 December

In HK$ millions Note 2023 2022
 

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 1,415 4,873

Government securities and treasury bills 63,577 60,083

Due from banks 102,247 98,889

Derivatives 3,010 3,047

Bank and corporate securities 22,169 23,535

Loans and advances to customers 262,591 276,196

Other assets 8,614 5,222

Subsidiaries 55 49

Properties and other fixed assets 3,830 3,862
 

Total assets 467,508 475,756
 

Liabilities
Due to banks 8,560 10,793

Deposits and balances from customers 390,628 394,382

Derivatives 3,558 5,290

Certificates of deposit issued - 3,105

Other liabilities 15,833 16,544

Amounts due to subsidiaries 60 60

Subordinated liability 2,343 2,339
 

Total liabilities 420,982 432,513
 

Equity 
Share capital 8,995 8,995

Reserves 28(b) 36,131 32,848

Other equity instruments 1,400 1,400
 

Total equity 46,526 43,243
 

Total liabilities and equity 467,508 475,756
 

SEAH Lim Huat, Peter	 J.E. Sebastian PAREDES MUIRRAGUI
Chairman	 Director  
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The following information is disclosed as part of the accompanying 
information to the consolidated financial statements and does not 
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

1	 BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Bank”) is fully committed to 
effective corporate governance in order to ensure its proper 
functioning and protect the interests of all the Bank’s stakeholders. 
The Bank is subject to, and during the year has complied, in all 
material aspects, with the guidelines set out in the HKMA 
Supervisory Policy Manual CG-1 Corporate Governance of Locally 
Incorporated Authorized Institutions.

The Board of Directors of the Bank (the “Board”) directs the Bank 
in the conduct of its affairs and ensures that corporate responsibility 
and ethical standards underpin the conduct of the Bank’s business. 
The Board provides sound leadership to the Management in setting 
the strategic vision, direction and long-term goals of the Bank as 
well as ensuring that adequate resources are available to meet 
these objectives and there is appropriate balance between 
promoting long-term growth and delivering short-term financial 
gains. The Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the Bank’s 
governance, strategy, risk management, financial performance 
and key personnel decisions.

To discharge its stewardship and responsibilities in specific areas, 
the Board may delegate authority to specialized Board committees 
to more efficiently and effectively contribute to the strategic and 
operational development of the Bank. The composition, roles and 
functions of the Board committees of the Bank are set out below.

(a)	 Board Audit Committee
The Board Audit Committee (the “BAC”) comprises four directors. 
All of the members of the BAC, including its Chairman, are non-
executive directors (“NED”). A majority (three out of four) of the 
members of the BAC, including its Chairman, are independent 
non-executive directors (‘INED”) of the Bank. All members of the 
BAC are highly experienced in financial and internal control 
management; most with expertise in audit practices, financial 
reporting and accounting. The BAC held four meetings during the 
year ended 31 December 2023.

BAC members for the year ended 31 December 2023

Mr. Dominic Chiu Fai HO (Chairman) INED

Mr. SEAH Lim Huat, Peter NED

Ms. Nancy Sau Ling TSE INED

LIU Chee Ming INED

Mr. HO Hing Yuen, David ceased to be a member of the BAC 
with effect from 26 April 2023.

The key responsibilities of the BAC include:
•	 monitoring the financial reporting process;
•	 reviewing the Bank’s financial statements prior to submission 

to the Board for approval;

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and its Subsidiaries

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
REPORT (unaudited)

•	 overseeing and interacting with the internal and external 
auditors;

•	 making recommendations to the Board on the proposals to 
shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and removal 
of the external auditor and approving the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the external auditor;

•	 approving the appointment, removal and remuneration of the 
Head of Internal Audit;

•	 reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit 
function and processes;

•	 reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor;

•	 approving the internal and external auditor’s audit plans and 
audit reports;

•	 ensuring that any observations of internal or external auditors 
regarding internal control weaknesses or deficiencies are 
promptly communicated to the BAC and rectified by 
Management of the Bank; and

•	 reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s internal 
controls, such as financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls, as well as accounting policies 
and systems.

(b)	 Board Risk Management Committee 
The Board Risk Management Committee (the “BRMC”) comprises 
five directors. All of the members of the BRMC, including its 
Chairman, are NED. A majority (three out of five) of the members 
of the BRMC, including its Chairman, are INED of the Bank. The 
BRMC members are appropriately qualified to discharge their 
responsibilities with extensive experience in risk management 
issues and practices. The BRMC held four meetings during the 
year ended 31 December 2023.

BRMC members for the year ended 31 December 2023

Ms. Nancy Sau Ling TSE (Chairman) INED

Mr. SEAH Lim Huat, Peter NED

Mr. Piyush GUPTA NED

Mr. Dominic Chiu Fai HO INED

Mr. LIU Chee Ming replaced Mr. HO Hing Yuen, David to be 
a member of BRMC with effect from 26 April 2023.

The BRMC has oversight of the Bank’s risk governance, risk 
approaches and risk limits of the Bank to ensure that all risks are 
effectively managed within the Bank’s overall risk governance 
framework. The BRMC also has oversight of the culture and 
behavioural standards that promote prudent risk taking and fair 
treatment of customers and ensure the effectiveness of initiatives 
designed to influence culture in alignment with the Bank’s culture 
standards. In particular, the principal duties of the BRMC include:

•	 reviewing and recommending for the Board’s approval the key 
risk policies and risk appetite statement setting out the Bank’s 
risk strategies as well as specific risks relevant to the Bank, such 
as credit, market, liquidity, operational and reputational risks;
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BNRC members for the year ended 31 December 2023

Mr. LIU Chee Ming (Chairman) INED

Mr. SEAH Lim Huat, Peter NED

Ms. Nancy Sau Ling TSE INED

The BNRC oversees the overall remuneration policy of the Bank. 
It also identifies and nominates suitable individuals to become 
directors and senior management of the Bank and make 
recommendations to the Board for their appointment, 
reappointment and succession planning; and conducts evaluation 
on members of the Board. The key responsibilities of the BNRC 
include:

•	 reviewing and approving the remuneration policy applicable 
to the employees of the Bank;

•	 approving the remuneration packages and any subsequent 
adjustments of senior management and other key personnel;

•	 identifying and selecting fit and proper qualified candidates 
for appointment to the Board and Board committees;

•	 reviewing the selection/nomination and recommendation of 
all appointments, and reasons for resignation or dismissal of 
senior management and/or CG-5 Senior Management 
positions;

•	 making recommendation to the Board on the selection of 
nominated candidates for directorships and senior management 
positions and on the re-appointment of directors or succession 
planning of directors and chief executive officer;

• 	 assessing the performance and effectiveness of the Board, 
Board committees Chief Executive Officer, Alternative Chief 
Executive(s), Senior Risk Executive and Head of Audit;

•	 reviewing and approving the criteria for identification of CG-5 
specified Senior Management and Key Personnel;

•	 overseeing the remuneration of CG-5 Senior Management and 
Key Personnel, and approving the remuneration packages and 
any subsequent adjustments of the same, except for the 
remuneration packages of the Chief Executive Officer and 
Alternate Chief Executive(s) which shall be approved by the 
Board;

•	 conducting a regular (at least annual) review of the 
remuneration system and ensuring that its operation is carried 
out independently of management;

•	 reviewing regularly the structure, size and composition 
(including skills, knowledge and experience of members) of 
the Board and Board committees; and determining the 
independence of the INED in accordance with the regulatory 
guidelines and other relevant factors.

•	 approving the Bank’s overall and specific risk governance 
frameworks, risk authority limits and major risk policies as 
delegated by the Board;

•	 approving risk exposures and profile against risk limits and risk 
strategy in accordance with approved risk appetite and/or 
guidelines;

•	 monitoring the quarterly portfolio reviews of total exposures 
as well as large exposures and asset quality;

•	 discussing large risk events and subsequent remedial action 
plans;

•	 monitoring market developments, such as macro-economic, 
credit, industry, country, cyber security, climate risk, operational 
and resilience risks and stress tests related to these 
developments;

•	 approving and overseeing the development and implementation 
of climate risk strategy and operational resilience approach;

•	 overseeing the independence and adequacy of the risk 
management function;

•	 overseeing the implementation of plans to meet regulatory 
requirements relating to risk management;

•	 overseeing the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, 
including approving stress scenarios and commensurate results 
for capital, risk-weighted assets, profit and loss and liquidity;

•	 obtaining assurance on the sufficiency of the information 
systems, infrastructure, resources and systems for risk 
management;

•	 assessing the risks inherent in new products and services to be 
launched and approving the new product approval policy;

•	 reviewing and recommending the effectiveness of culture and 
behavioural standards to the Board; and

•	 approving the relevant statements and reports related to the 
risk culture.

The BRMC supervises the Bank’s risk management and risk culture 
in accordance with the overall risk appetite established by the 
Board. This risk appetite framework guides Management in the 
pursuit of the Bank’s strategy and business plans and is 
encapsulated in a formal risk appetite statement which considers 
capital adequacy, earnings volatility and the various risk types 
including but not limited to credit risk, country risk, market risk, 
liquidity risk, operational risk and reputational risk. Risk appetite 
takes into account potential impact arising from stressed 
conditions and concentration risk. Portfolio risk limits for the 
quantifiable risk types are established through a top-down 
approach and operationalised through a formal framework. Other 
significant risk aspects are guided by qualitative expression of 
principles. The risk appetite framework is reviewed annually.

(c)	 Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee (the 
“BNRC”) comprises three directors. All of the members of the 
BNRC, including its Chairman, are NED. A majority (two out of 
three) of the members of the BNRC, including its Chairman, are 
INED of the Bank. The BNRC members are appropriately qualified 
to discharge their responsibilities with relevant expertise and skills. 
The BNRC held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 
2023.
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(d)	 Hong Kong Credit Risk Committee
The Hong Kong Credit Risk Committee serves as an executive 
forum for discussions and decisions pertaining to credit risk and 
its management. It assesses credit risk taking, and reviews and 
monitors credit risk portfolio, special loan and asset review 
situations, credit systems, specific credit concentrations and trends, 
key policy deviations, macroeconomic trends with material impact 
to the Bank. The Hong Kong Credit Risk Committee exercises 
active oversight on credit risk related regulatory developments, 
the use of internal rating systems and ensure the continuing 
appropriateness of stress testing. The Hong Kong Credit Risk 
Committee comprises the Credit Head of the Bank and 
representatives from relevant business units, credit, risk 
management and other support units.

(e)	 Hong Kong Market and Liquidity Risk Committee
The Hong Kong Market and Liquidity Risk Committee provides 
comprehensive and bank-wide oversight of all market and liquidity 
risks and their management in trading and banking books. It serves 
as an executive forum for discussions and decisions on all aspects 
of market and liquidity risks and their management. It maintains 
oversight on effectiveness of market and liquidity risk management 
framework including policies, models, people, systems, processes, 
information and methodologies. It sets standards and provides 
necessary guidance on the establishment and maintenance of the 
bank-wide liquidity contingency plan. The Hong Kong Market and 
Liquidity Risk Committee comprises the Market & Liquidity Risk 
Head of the Bank and representatives from risk management and 
other relevant business units and support units.

(f)	 Hong Kong Operational Risk Committee
The Hong Kong Operational Risk Committee provides comprehensive 
location-wide oversight and direction relating to the management 
of operational risk. It monitors and reviews the effectiveness of 
operational risk management, policies, processes, methodologies 
and infrastructure. It performs top-down assessment and monitors 
critical operational risk exposures and provides direction for 
resolution of critical operational risk issues and monitors issue 
resolution. The Hong Kong Operational Risk Committee comprises 
the Head of Risk Management Group – Operational Risk, and 
representatives from key business units and support units.
 
(g)	 Hong Kong Risk Culture and Conduct Committee
The Hong Kong Risk Culture and Conduct Committee (“HKRCCC”) 
provides location-wide oversight and direction relating to the 
management and implementation of the risk culture and conduct 
agenda. It oversees and monitors the culture and behavioural standards 
across the Bank and approves the culture enhancement initiatives and 
plans of the Bank. Chaired by the Hong Kong Head of DBS, the 
HKRCCC comprises heads of key business units and support units.

2	 SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND MANAGEMENT 
Committees

Senior Management of the Bank consists of a group of highly 
competent and experienced individuals responsible and 
accountable to the Board for the sound and prudent day-to-day 
management of the Bank in accordance with the business strategy, 
risk appetite and policies approved by the Board. Specialised 
Management committees are established to oversee and 
implement business strategies, risk management systems and 
internal controls. The roles, functions and composition of each of 
the key management committees are set out below.

(a)	 Hong Kong Management Committee
The Hong Kong Management Committee (the “HKMC”) is 
responsible for formulating and implementing DBS Group’s 
strategy for Hong Kong, as well as the financial and non-financial 
results of DBS Group’s activities in this geographic segment. It 
provides leadership to the various business and support units in 
Hong Kong with a view to ensure sound and effective governance 
while achieving the targeted financial returns. Towards this end, 
the HKMC prioritises business development initiatives and support 
infrastructure projects necessary to underpin robust growth and 
allocates capital within the context of DBS Group’s strategy. The 
HKMC is also responsible for ensuring that policies and practices 
are in place to maintain high standards of corporate governance, 
risk management and compliance in Hong Kong. Chaired by the 
Hong Kong Head of DBS, the HKMC comprises senior management 
staff in Hong Kong.

(b)	 Hong Kong Risk Executive Committee
The Hong Kong Risk Executive Committee provides oversight of 
all risk types (including those without an underlying risk committee 
oversight), interactions between risk types and cross-risk stress 
testing for major downside risk. It reviews, from a risk perspective, 
existing and new business proposals and establishes overall local 
risk architecture direction and determine reporting requirements 
in line with those established by DBS Group. It also monitors the 
Bank’s risk profiles, as well as the market and regulatory 
developments; and oversees the establishment of risk controls and 
measurement tools, the non-financial compliance matters and 
financial crime related matters. The Hong Kong Risk Executive 
Committee comprises the CEO of the Bank, the Senior Risk 
Executive of Hong Kong and representatives from key business 
units and support units. 

(c)	 Hong Kong Asset and Liabilities Committee
The Hong Kong Asset and Liability Committee oversees strategies 
to enhance the quality of net interest income, liquidity management 
and structural foreign exchange management for Hong Kong.  
The Hong Kong Asset and Liability Committee also oversees the 
capital management and planning process and review the Bank’s 
capital position and adequacy.  The Hong Kong Asset and Liability 
Committee comprises the CEO of the Bank and representatives 
from the relevant business units and support units.
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No senior management or key personnel has been awarded with 
new guaranteed bonus or severance payments in 2023 (2022: 
Nil).

In 2023, no sign-on award was paid to senior management or key 
personnel (2022: HK$3,688,284).

4	 INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit is independent of the activities it audits. Its 
objectives, scope of authority and responsibilities are defined in 
the Hong Kong Audit Charter, which is approved by the BAC. 
Head of Internal Audit reports functionally to the Head of Group 
Audit and the Chairperson of BAC, as well as administratively to 
the CEO.

Internal Audit’s responsibilities include:
(i)	 Evaluating the reliability, adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Bank’s system of internal controls, risk management, 
governance framework and processes;

(ii)	 Providing an objective and independent assessment of the 
Bank’s credit portfolio quality, the execution of approved credit 
portfolio strategies and control standards relating to credit 
management processes;

(iii)	Reviewing whether the Bank complies with laws and 
regulations and adheres to established policies; and

(iv)	Reviewing whether management is taking appropriate steps 
to address control deficiencies.

 
Internal Audit adheres to the Bank’s Code of Conduct and is 
guided by the Mission Statement in the Hong Kong Audit Charter. 
It adopts the Code of Ethics and aligns its practices with the 
International Professional Practices Framework established by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA). In addition, it has embedded 
IIA’s 10 Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing into its activities.

Internal Audit has unfettered access to the BAC, the Board and 
management, as well as the right to seek information and 
explanation. Internal Audit has an organizational and strategic 
alignment to the Bank. The Head of Internal Audit has a seat in 
HKMC and attends business reviews and strategic planning 
forums. Internal Audit adopts a risk-based approach in its auditing 
activities. An annual audit plan is developed using a structured 
risk and control assessment framework through which the inherent 
risk and control effectiveness of each auditable entity in the Bank 
are assessed. This risk assessment methodology and approach are 
aligned with that of the Bank, including the risk taxonomy. The 
assessment also covers risks arising from new lines of business, 
new products, and emerging risks from the Bank’s operating 
environment. Audit projects are planned based on the results of 
the assessment, with priority given to auditing higher risk areas 
and as required by regulators.

(h)	 Hong Kong Product Oversight Committee
The Hong Kong Product Oversight Committee provides country 
oversight over the risks associated with new products in Hong 
Kong. It provides holistic overview of such risks to ensure new 
products are offered in line with the bank’s strategy and risk 
appetite, in the interest of protecting the bank’s franchise. The 
Hong Kong Product Oversight Committee comprises the Senior 
Risk Executive of Hong Kong and representatives from key business 
units and support units.

3	 DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION PURSUANT TO 
THE HKMA SUPERVISORY POLICY MANUAL CG-5 
“GUIDELINE ON A SOUND REMUNERATION 
SYSTEM”

(a)	� Design and implementation of the remuneration 
system

The Bank adopts the remuneration policy and practices formulated 
by DBSH. Please refer to the Annual Report of DBSH for major 
characteristics of the remuneration system.

(b)	� Aggregate quantitative information on remuneration 
for senior management and key personnel for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Senior management is defined as those who are responsible for 
oversight of the Bank’s strategy or activities or those of the Bank’s 
material business lines. Key personnel is defined as individual 
employees whose duties or activities in the course of their 
employment involve the assumption of material risk or taking on 
of material exposures on behalf of the Bank.

Breakdown of remuneration awarded(i) 2023 2022
 

Number of senior management 14 16
Number of key personnel 24 20

In HK$ millions 

Fixed remuneration
• Cash based (non-deferred) 100 88

Variable remuneration(ii)

• Cash based (non-deferred) 73 75
• Cash based (deferred) 15 15
• Share based (deferred) 48 50
 

236 228
 

In HK$ millions
Breakdown of deferred remuneration 2023 2022
 

• Outstanding – unvested 144 135
• Awarded during the year 48 50
• Paid out during the year 42 40
 

(i)	 Remuneration figures for senior management and key personnel are 
aggregated due to data confidentiality.

(ii)	 Cash and share based variable remuneration are subject to the approval of 
the DBSH Board of Directors.
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Audit reports containing identified issues and corrective action 
plans are reported to the BAC and senior management. Progress 
of the corrective action plans is monitored, and past due action 
plans are included in regular reports to the senior management 
and the BAC. In all routine audits, Internal Audit evaluates the 
control environment and management’s control awareness which 
incorporates risk culture as guided by Financial Stability Board’s 
Guidance on Sound Risk Culture.

Internal Audit apprises regulators and external auditors of all 
relevant audit matters. It works closely with external auditors to 
coordinate audit efforts.

Quality assurance and key developments

In line with leading practices, Group Audit has a quality assurance 
and improvement programme (QAIP) that covers its audit activity 
(including Hong Kong Internal Audit) and conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing. As part of the QAIP, internal quality assurance reviews 
(QAR) are conducted quarterly and external QAR are carried out 
at least once every five years by qualified professionals from an 
external organisation. In 2023, Ernst and Young (EY) was 
appointed to conduct the external QAR.

Based on EY’s assessment, Group Audit leads the industry in the 
use of data analytics and digital tools in its audit activities such as 
risk assessment, fieldwork and reporting. In EY’s maturity model 
assessment, Group Audit was also rated the highest level for 
Purpose, People, Risk assessment and Planning, Reporting, 
Enablement and Innovation, and Impact, Influence and 
Involvement.

In 2023, Group Audit advanced the digitalization of its 
documentation process using its workbench. The new process was 
piloted regionally, and with some enhancements, a full roll out 
will be implemented in due course.


